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PROCEEDINGS RESUME ON 30 OCTOBER 2020  

CHAIRPERSON:    Good morn ing  Mr  Kennedy,  good  

morn ing  eve rybody.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Good morn ing  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   A re  we ready?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   We a re  thank  you Cha i r  and the  next  

w i tness –  the  on ly  w i tness schedu led  fo r  today Cha i r  i s  in  

the  w i tness box and he is  ready  as  we l l .   May we then 

proceed and ask you Cha i r  p lease  to  g rant  us  leave to  ca l l  

as  the  next  w i tness Mr  Reenen Teubes  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And fo r  the  record  h i s  surname is  

spe l t  T-e-u-b-e-s .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Thank you.   Thank you.   P lease  

admin is te r  the  oa th  or  a f f i rmat ion .  

REGISTRAR:   Keep your  m icrophone on.   P lease s ta te  

your  fu l l  names fo r  the  reco rd .   .  

MR TEUBES:   Frans Reenen Teubes.  

REGISTRAR:   Do you have any  ob jec t ion  to  tak ing  the  

prescr ibed oath?  20 

MR TEUBES:   No  I  do  no t .  

REGISTRAR:   Do you cons ider  the  oa th  to  be  b ind ing  on  

your  consc ience?  

MR TEUBES:   Yes I  do .  

REGISTRAR:   Do  you swear  tha t  the  ev idence you w i l l  g ive  
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w i l l  be  the  t ru th ;  the  who le  t ru th  and noth ing  e l se  bu t  the 

t ru th .  

MR TEUBES:   Yes s i r.  

REGISTRAR:    I f  so  p lease ra ise  your  r igh t  hand and say,  

so  he lp  me God.  

MR TEUBES:   So  he lp  me God.  

REGISTRAR:   Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Thank you;  you may be seated Mr  

Teubes.    

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you p lease can you swi tch  on  10 

your  m icrophone p lease –  jus t  push the  bu t ton  thank you.   

Good morn ing  Mr  Teubes.  

MR TEUBES:   Good morn ing .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   You a re  cur ren t ly  employed where?  

MR TEUBES:   I  am employed a t  Dene l  Land Systems.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   That  i s  –  eve rybody re fers  to  as  DLS.  

MR TEUBES:   That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR TEUBES:   That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And what  i s  your  cur ren t  job  t i t le?  20 

MR TEUBES:   My cur ren t  job  t i t le  i s  Genera l  Manager  

Combat  Systems.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Now is  i t  cor rec t  tha t  you have  

coopera ted  w i th  the  commiss ion ,  i t s  invest iga tors  and lega l  

team and have prov ided a  number  o f  a f f idav i t s  to  us? 
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MR TEUBES:   That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   A l r igh t  thank you.   Cha i r  may we re fe r  

you to  the  bund le  in  wh ich  you w i l l  f ind  tha t  two a f f idav i t s  

tha t  w i l l  be  re fer red  to .   I t  i s  in  Dene l  Bund le  05 .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes so  the  bund le  we w i l l  use  today is  

Dene l  Bund le  05 .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I t  i s  –  i t  con ta ins  on ly  one  exh ib i t  

wh ich  is  W17.   May I  ask  you p lease Mr  Teubes to  look  a t  a  

par t i cu la r  page number?   I f  you  can jus t  bear  in  m ind there  

are  a  number  o f  page numbers  tha t  appear  wr i t ten  or  t yped  10 

in  a t  var ious spo ts  on  each page.   I  am s imply  go ing  to  

re fer  you to  the  top  le f t  hand page –  le f t  had s ide  o f  the  

page.   Can you p lease open where  i t  says  Dene l -05-006 on  

the  top  le f t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   I t  looks  l i ke  the  a i r  cond i t ioner  i s  qu i te  

no isy  th is  morn ing .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I t  i s  Cha i r.   Someone can sor t  i t  ou t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   The person who normal ly  a t tends to  i t  

does not  seem to  be  around.   Okay a l r igh t  le t  us  cont inue.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you.   Do you have tha t  page 20 

number?  

MR TEUBES:   I  do .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And fo r  conven ience I  am jus t  go ing  

to  re fer  to  a  page l i ke  th is  jus t  as  6  no t  g ive  you  the  fu l l  

number  okay?  



30 OCTOBER 2020 – DAY 295 
 

Page 6 of 115 
 

MR TEUBES:   Thank you.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   A l r igh t  thank you.   Am I  cor rec t  in  

say ing  tha t  th is  i s  the  f i rs t  page o f  your  … 

CHAIRPERSON:   Jus t  one second Mr  Kennedy.   I  do  no t  

know i f  i t  i s  go ing  to  be  too  ho t  i f  i t  i s  sw i tched o f f  

comple te ly.   So exp lore  the  poss ib i l i t y  o f  no t  sw i t ch ing  i f  

o f f  comple te l y  bu t  maybe i t  shou ld  no t  be  such  tha t  i t  

makes as  much no ise  as  i t  has  been mak ing .   Okay  a l r igh t .   

Somebody is  a t tend ing  to  i t  –  we can cont inue.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you Cha i r.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I t  does become very  ho t  as  the  day  

progresses here .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes i t  i s  impor tan t  you shou ld  le t  me  

know because I  m ight  no t  know how hot  i t  i s  tha t  s ide .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   So  –  bu t  a t  leas t  I  th ink  tha t  leve l  o f  

no ise  is  be t te r  than –  tha t  be fo re .   Okay.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I t  p rov ides be t te r  –  be t te r  aud io  and i t  

p rov ides a l so  some re l ie f  f rom the  heat .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   Yes.   Okay a l r igh t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I t  seems to  be  a  good compromise  

thank you very  much.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And Mr  Teubes… 
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CHAIRPERSON:   We thank –  we thank th is  techn ic ian .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Mu l t i task ing  techn ic ian .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Mu l t i task ing .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Reg is t ra r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes okay.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Mr  Teubes th is  i s  the  f i rs t  page  o f  the  

f i rs t  a f f idav i t  tha t  you prov ided to  us  a t  he  commiss ion ,  i s  

tha t  r igh t?  

MR TEUBES:   That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I s  tha t  your  name on page 6  and can I  10 

ask  you to  tu rn  p lease to  page 50 –  50 .    

MR TEUBES:   I  have got  i t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I s  tha t  you r  name and s ignature  tha t  

appears  a t  the  foo t  o f  the  page? 

MR TEUBES:   That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And i f  you tu rn  to  page 51 a re  those 

the  de ta i l s  and s ignature  o f  a  Commiss ioner  o f  Oaths  in  

f ron t  o f  whom you took the  oa th  to  conf i rm the  con tents  o f  

th is  a f f idav i t?  

MR TEUBES:   That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t .   Have you been th rough th is  

a f f idav i t  and a re  you sa t is f ied  tha t  the  contents  a re  t rue  

and cor rec t  as  fa r  as  you –  your  knowledge goes?  

MR TEUBES:   That  i s  cor rec t  yes  thank you Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Cha i r  may I  jus t  re fe r  you to  one t iny  
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techn ica l  p rob lem tha t  has a r isen.   I f  I  can  take  you to  

page 10?  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   You w i l l  see  a t  the  foo t  o f  the  page 

where  the  person typ ing  the  document  has inser ted  the 

typed page number.   I t  i s  page 5  o f  46 .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And then i f  you tu rn  the  page i t  jumps  

to  page 7  o f  46  a t  the  bo t tom.   And in  the  fo l low ing page  

wh ich  is  a t  page 12 o f  our  bund le .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I t  goes back to  s ix .   So a l l  the  pages 

are  here  bu t  the  sequence I  am a f ra id  has been mixed up.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh.   But  i s  i t  on ly  in  regard  these two  

pages where  page 7  appears  and page 6  appears  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   As  fa r  as  I  am aware  tha t  i s  the  on ly  

g l i t ch  in  th is  a f f idav i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I  jus t  wanted to  po in t  i t  ou t  up f ron t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Because when I  f i rs t  s ta r ted  look ing  

a t  the  a f f idav i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Th i s  ja r red .  

CHAIRPERSON:   One cou ld  spend  the  t ime t ry ing  to  f ind… 
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ADV KENNEDY SC:   Indeed.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .   Ja .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   So  i f  I  can  jus t  have tha t  p laced on  

record .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And then may I  then ask  –  we w i l l  

dea l  w i th  –  there  i s  a  supp lementary  a f f idav i t  la te r  in  the  

bund le  bu t  we w i l l  dea l  w i th  tha t  separa te l y  i f  we may? 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Cha i r  may I  then fo rmal ly  move fo r  10 

your  leave to  admi t  th is  a f f idav i t  in  Dene l  Bund le  05  f rom 

page 6  inc lud ing  a l l  o f  i t s  annexures I  wou ld  ask  Cha i r  fo r  

leave to  have tha t  admi t ted  as  par t  o f  w i tness  Exh ib i t  

W17?  

CHAIRPERSON:   The s ta tement /a f f idav i t  o f  Mr  Reenen 

Teubes s ta r t ing  a t  page 6  together  w i th  i t s  annexures is  

admi t ted  as  Exh ib i t  W17.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you Cha i r.   Now may I  ask  you  

in  the  same bund le  p lease Mr  Teubes to  tu rn  ahead to  page 

850.    20 

MR TEUBES:   I  have got  i t  Mr  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   850?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  do  no t  seem … 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I t  wou ld  be  r i gh t  a t  the  end.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   I  seem to  go  on ly  up  to  849.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Then I  am a f ra id  there  is  a… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja  I  go  on ly  up  to  –  m ine goes on ly  up  to  

849.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Then there  is  a  p rob lem.   Th is  was 

added to  our  bund le  on l y  yesterday by  the  Secre tar ia t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I t  seems tha t  –  maybe i t  was… 

CHAIRPERSON:   I s  i t  one o f  the  pages you handed up a t  

some s tage?  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I  am sor ry  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I s  i t  one –  i s  the  m iss ing  page –  page –  

one o f  the  pages you handed up yesterday?  Because there  

is  a  page tha t  I  th ink  you handed up – a  document  a  one 

pager  I  th ink  wh ich  wou ld  have had to  be  pu t  in .   But  I  do 

no t  know i f  they  d id  no t  pu t  i t  in .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes I  do  no t  know I  hope tha t  tha t  has  

been done.   But  tha t  was fo r  a  d i f fe ren t  w i tness.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Bu t  Cha i r  th is  w i l l… 20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh ja .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Th i s  w i l l  be  prob lem.   I  w i l l  take  a  b i t  

o f  t ime to  dea l  w i th  the  main  a f f idav i t .   The supp lementa ry  

a f f idav i t  tha t  i s  no t  in  your  f i le  needs to  be  pu t  in .   May we  

jus t  ask  th rough my learned co l leagues tha t  tha t  s teps be  
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taken fo r  the  appropr ia te  s ta f f  in  the  Secre ta r ia t  to  make  

sure  tha t  a  copy is  made ava i lab le  to  us?  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   To  hand up when we are  dea l ing  w i th  

i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes okay no tha t  i s  f ine .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:   That  i s  f ine  ja .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Shou ld  –  perhaps I  shou ld  wa i t  fo r  

tha t  to  a r r i ve  fo r  you to  see i t  so  tha t… 10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   You can be sa t is f ied  be fore  you admi t  

i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay no tha t  i s  f ine .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   As  ev idence.  

CHAIRPERSON:   That  i s  f ine .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you Cha i r.   May we jus t  

ind ica te  tha t  las t  n igh t  f rom the  a t to rneys who have been 

ass is t ing  Mr  Teubes p rov ided by  Dene l  as  Mr  P i l lay  and Ms  

Wi lsnach?  Mr  P i l lay  i s  p resent  I  am not  su re  Ms Wi lsnach  20 

is  here .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh yes.    

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Bu t  they sent  us  yesterday even ing  a  

fu r ther  supp lementary  a f f idav i t  in  d ra f t  fo rm o f  Mr  Teubes.   

I  have had a  chance to  go  th rough tha t  i t  i s  very  b r ie f  and 
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as  Mr  Teubes has po in ted  out  to  me th is  morn ing  i t  i s  no t  

meant  to  change  any ev idence i t  i s  jus t  to  p rov ide  a  l i t t le  

more  de ta i l  and some sequence.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay a l r igh t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I f  we can leave tha t  to  dea l  w i th  tha t  

a t  a  la te r  s tage as  we l l?  

MR TEUBES:   Yes.   No,  no  tha t  i s  f ine .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Bu t  go ing  back to  whatever  document  I  

do  no t  have fo r  page 850 i f  one o f  your  jun io rs  has go t  one  10 

tha t  they are  us ing  maybe they cou ld  bor row me tha t  one.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   So  tha t  you can cont inue on the  way you 

have p lanned to  in  te rms o f  ask ing  the  w i tness.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.   Cha i r  I  was g iven the  

impress ion  yeste rday tha t  the  supp lementary  was go ing  to  

be  de l i ve red to  you las t  n igh t .   You may not  have rece ived  

i t  o r  you may have rece ived i t  bu t  have –  I  know you were  

dea l ing  w i th  another  hear ing .  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  was not  to ld  anyth ing .  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  th ink  I  see my  Reg is t ra r  i s  shak ing  h is  

head.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   So  i t  sounds l i ke  i t  d id  no t  reach even  

your  Reg is t ra r.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   So  i t  d id  no t  reach ja .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Can I  jus t  check i f  a  spare  copy is  

ava i lab le?  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.    

ADV KENNEDY SC:   A l r igh t  no  I  am a f ra id  no  spare  copy is  

immedia te ly  ava i lab le .   A l r igh t  thank you.   So then  may I  

w i th  your  leave Cha i r  then take  the  w i tness to  t he  main  

a f f idav i t  tha t  you have admi t ted?  I f  I  can  jus t  ment ion  tha t  

the  two  supp lementary  a f f idav i t s  g i ve  add i t iona l  de ta i l s  fo r  

some o f  the  top ics .   In  the  f i rs t  a f f idav i t  I  wou ld  have 10 

pre fe r red .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I f  eve ry th ing  had been befo re  you to  

dea l  w i th  a l l  o f  tha t  top ic  by  top i c .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Bu t  I  may jus t  have to  come back to  

the  supp lementa ry  a f f idav i t s  and jus t  f i l l  i n  the  de ta i l  then.   

So I  apo log i se .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I t  i s  no t  an  idea l  log ica l  sequence.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Bu t  I  am a f ra id  the  log is t i cs  

somet imes get  compl ica ted .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   No tha t  i s  f ine .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you Cha i r.   And may I  w i th  your  
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leave lead the  w i tness th rough some o f  the  uncont rovers ia l  

aspects .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Uncont rovers ia l  ja .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   To  beg in  w i th .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you.   Mr  Teubes can  we go 

back to  your  main  a f f idav i t  a t  page 6?  You ment ioned tha t  

your  cur ren t  t i t le  i s  Genera l  Manager  o f  Combat  Sys tems a t  

DLS and you re fer  in  your  a f f idav i t  to  your  background on  

page 8 .   You are  a  qua l i f ied  Mechan ica l  Eng ineer  w i th  a  BE 10 

and G and a lso  a  Maste rs  i n  Bus iness Leadersh ip  an  MBL,  

i s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR TEUBES:   That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And you jo ined Armscor  in  1989 and 

moved to  Dene l  when Dene l  was es tab l i shed in  1992? 

MR TEUBES:   That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And you have worked in  d i f fe ren t  

capac i t ies .   You se t  ou t  your  var ious capac i t ies  on  the  res t  

o f  th is  page 8 ,  co r rec t?  

MR TEUBES:   That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t .   D id  you work  th roughout  th is  

per iod  f rom 1992 unt i l  today a t  Dene l?  

MR TEUBES:   That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And a lways in  DLS? 

MR TEUBES:   A lways –  a lways  in  DLS.   There  was a  
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per iod  Cha i r  tha t  I  worked in  the  UAE – s ta t ioned in  the  

UAE but  s t i l l  emp loyed by  DLS.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t  thank you.   Now you have 

re fer red  in  parag raph 22.12 page 10 to  your  invo l vement  in  

the  Hoefys ter  Program go ing  as  fa r  back as  2004 and you 

fu l f i l l ed  var ious ro les  as  an  employee o f  DLS on tha t  

cont rac t  s ince  2004 unt i l  today?  

MR TEUBES:   That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t .   Now on page 11 you w i l l  see  

tha t  paragraph 3  i s  headed A Br ie f  H is to ry  o f  the  Hoefys ter  10 

Cont rac t .   That  then f lows because o f  the  p rob lem wi th  the  

sequenc ing  o f  the  pages in  the  photocopy ing  process and  

the  pag ina t ion  process tha t  I  have  a l ready ra ised w i th  the  

learned Cha i r.   Page 11 tha t  ends  w i th  3 .2  i s  fo l lowed by  

page 13 accord ing  to  the  pag ina t ion  w i th  3 .3 ,  i s  tha t  

cor rec t?  

MR TEUBES:   That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t .   And  you have se t  ou t  there  a  

summary o f  the  Hoefys ter  Cont rac t  invo l v ing  Dene l  and  

DLS in  par t i cu la r.  20 

MR TEUBES:   That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR TEUBES:   That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Now I  wou ld  l i ke  now to  ge t  to  the  

f i rs t  meaty  top ics  tha t  you dea l  w i t h  in  your  a f f idav i t  hav ing  
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dea l t  w i th  th is  background and tha t  i s  Dene l ’s  acqu is i t ion  

o f  an  in te res t  in  LMT Hold ings and you s tar t  tha t  on  page 

14 and tha t  runs th rough fo r  some pages.   Can you  w i thout  

go ing  in to  a l l  the  de ta i l  in  the  a f f idav i t  because  tha t  i s  

there  be fore  the  Cha i r  fo r  the  learned Cha i r  to  be  ab le  to  

read in  due course .   Can you jus t  summar ise  i n  a  coup le  o f  

sentences when LMT was acqu i red ;  what  was acqu i red  and 

why?  

MR TEUBES:   Cha i r  jus t  as  background and I  touched on i t  

in  the  Hoefys ter  Sect ion  as  we l l .   When Hoefys ter  was 10 

in i t ia ted  as  f rom RFP perspect ive  f rom Armscor  the re  was 

a  requ i rement  to  do  some tes t  in  South  A f r i ca  as  we l l  as  do  

some techno logy t ransfer  to  South  A f r i ca  f rom the  d i f fe ren t  

fo re ign  supp l ie rs .   In  th is  case spec i f i ca l l y  Pat r ia .   Pat r ia  

cont rac ted  tha t  LMT loca l l y  to  be  the i r  loca l  eng ineer ing  

par tner  fo r  the  Hoefys ter  Program.  So in  –  in  the  p re-

cont rac t  phase where  a  lo t  o f  work  was done inc lud ing  the  

landmine tes t ing  LMT was cont rac ted  by  Pat r ia  to  suppor t  

them.   So in  th is  per iod  a  lo t  o f  in te l lec tua l  p roper ty  

[00 :16 :07]  spec i f i ca l l y  on  the  veh ic le  was vested  in  LMT.  20 

 So a t  a  cer ta in  s tage we got  invo lved w i th  LMT 

when the  RFP was submi t ted  to  Armscor  and in  tha t  s tage 

as  pe r  my a f f idav i t  and I  th ink  we w i l l  p robab ly  go  in  la te r  

in  de ta i l  i s  we got  to  know o f  the  d i f f i cu l t y  –  f inanc ia l  

d i f f i cu l t y  o f  LMT.   And we had to  take  a  dec i s ion  in  te rms o f  
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p ro tec t ing  the  IP tha t  was a l ready crea ted fo r  Hoefys ter  in  

LMT what  needs to  be  done to  ac t ion  tha t  and th is  

acqu is i t ion  program was par t l y  then to  p ro tec t  the  crea ted 

IP w i th in  LMT on the  Hoefys ter  Program.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you .   Had LMT pr io r  to  i t  

hav ing  a  major i t y  share  purchased  by  Dene l  had i t  p r io r  to  

tha t  been prov id ing  work  and equ ipment  to  Dene l?  

MR TEUBES:   Cha i r  yes  a l though  on a  very  l im i ted  bas i s  

there  was not  –  there  was not  a  b ig  –  b ig  cont rac ts  so  i t  

was more  on  spec ia l i sed  veh ic les  o f  wh ich  the  quant i t ies  10 

was very  low.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And d id  LMT have capac i ty  to  bu i ld  

hu l l s  fo r  the  a rmoured veh ic le  tha t  a re  re levant  fo r  

Hoefys ter  Cont rac t .  

MR TEUBES:   Cha i r  ve ry  l im i ted .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t .   Now may we then tu rn  to  page  

20 and you dea l  w i th  the  f i rs t  t ransact ion  invo l v ing  VR 

Laser  and tha t  re la ted  to  the  product ion  o f  217  armour  

hu l l s  fo r  the  Hoefys te r  P la t fo rm components  in  2014.   Now 

i f  I  can  jus t  ask  you a  po in t  o f  de ta i l  be fore  we get  in to  the  20 

substance.   There  is  re fe rence to  217 so  tha t  i s  217 

veh ic les .  There  is  re fe rence in  papers  tha t  have come 

before  the  Cha i r  a l ready in  th i s  commiss ion  tha t  –  that  

there  was a  var ia t ion  f rom 217 down to  I  th ink  i t  was 83 o r  

–  so r ry  183 or  184,  i s  tha t  cor rec t?  
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MR TEUBES:   That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t .   So when you re fer  to  217 tha t  

i s  the  or ig ina l  number  tha t  was contempla ted  but  la te r  i t  

was reduced s l igh t ly.  

MR TEUBES:   That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t .   Now we have dea l t  w i th  LMT’s  

capac i ty  and wha t  i t  d id  be fore  i t  was acqu i red  by  Dene l  o r  

the  major i t y  sha reho ld ing  was.   Were  you aware  o f  VR 

Laser  be fo re  th is  t ransact ion  tha t  we are  go ing  to  dea l  w i th  

here  in  2014?   10 

MR TEUBES:   No .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   D id  you have a  re la t ion  –  d id  you as  

Dene l  have a  re la t ionsh ip  w i th  VR Laser?  

MR TEUBES:   Cha i r  we as  Dene l  had the  re la t ionsh ip .   The  

major i t y  o r  the  major  a rea  o f  the  re la t ionsh ip  was w i th  one  

o f  our  s is te r  bus iness un i ts  ca l led  Mechem.   I t  i s  more  in  

the  humani ta r ian  area and VR Laser  was bu i ld ing  Cassp i rs  

fo r  them as one o f  the  main  supp l i e rs  to  Dene l .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t .   And how d id  the  Cassp i rs  

compare  w i th  the  Hoefys ter  Cont ro l  –  sor ry  Cont rac t  20 

veh ic les?   Were  they –  was i t  s im i la r?   Was i t  ident ica l?  

MR TEUBES:   I t  is  no t  –  i t  i s  s im i la r  p rocesses but  i t  i s  no t  

ident ica l  veh ic les  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   A l r igh t  now you re fer  in  your  a f f idav i t  

I  am not  go ing  to  take  you aga in  th rough the  de ta i l  bu t  you 
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re fe r  to  the  po in t  tha t  you d id  no t  have a  d i rec t  

invo l vement  in  the  RFO or  the  eva lua t ion  process,  i s  tha t  

cor rec t?  

MR TEUBES:   That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   So  –  and then you re fer  to  in  514 

page 21 to  a  c ross- funct iona l  team se lec ted  by  Ms  

Malah le la .   She was then Head  o f  Supp ly  Cha in  w i th in  

DLS,  i s  tha t  co r rec t?  

MR TEUBES:   That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And she se lec ted  members  to  s i t  on  10 

the  cross - funct iona l  team.   Were  you a  member  o f  tha t  

c ross- funct iona l  team? 

MR TEUBES:   I  was not  a  member  o f  the  c ross- funct iona l  

team Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Okay.   So you d id  no t  take  pa r t  o r  d id  

you in  the  eva lua t ion  o f  the  proposa ls  rece ived  by  the  

b idders  in  response to  RFO? 

MR TEUBES:   Cha i r  I  d id  no t  take  par t  in  the  se lec t ion  

process.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Were  you par t  o f  the  execut ive  o f  20 

Dene l  a t  tha t  –  o f  DLS a t  tha t  s tage?  

MR TEUBES:   That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t .   Now were  you invo lved in  the  

dec is ion  –  I  know you were  no t  invo lved in  i ssu ing  the  RFO 

or  the  eva lua t ion  o f  the  o f fe rs  tha t  came in  response but  
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were  you invo lved in  the  dec is ion  a t  execut ive  leve l  to  go 

ou t  on  a  RFO p rocess in i t ia l l y?  

MR TEUBES:   Cha i r  jus t  to  c la r i t y  the  dec i s ion  to  go  ou t  on 

a  RFO was not  taken on execut ive  leve l  i t  was taken  w i th in  

the  Supp ly  Cha in  env i ronment .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t .   Now there  has been some 

suggest ion  by  some wi tnesses who have a l ready g i ven 

ev idence tha t  LMT had the  capab i l i t y  o f  mak ing  these hu l l s  

–  P la t fo rm hu l l s  f o r  these veh ic les  and i t  was now major i t y  

owned by  Dene l  and i t  wou ld  make sense to  keep tha t  in -10 

house and in  fac t  the  po l i cy  was to  p rocure  f rom an in -

house d i v is ion  o r  en t i t y  ra ther  than go ing  outs ide  i f  tha t  

was –  i f  tha t  cou ld  be  done sub jec t  to  the  pr ice  be ing  

acceptab le ,  qua l i t y  e tce tera .   Do you have any comment  o r  

v iew in  re la t ion  to  the  fac t  tha t  LMT was not  au tomat ica l l y  

g iven th is  bus iness bu t  ins tead the  Supp ly  Cha in  b ids  went  

ou t  fo r  –  on  a  RFO a l lowing compet i t i ve  pr ices  to  be  

submi t ted?  

MR TEUBES:   Cha i r  I  th ink  to  have  a  v iew on i t  I  wou ld  l i ke  

to  –  there  is  two var iab les  in  i t .   The one var iab le  i s  I  th ink  20 

we need to  d is t ingu ish  be tween a  fac i l i t y  o r  a  capac i ty  tha t  

can do mass product ion  versus  a  fac i l i t y  tha t  can do  

pro to t ype product ion .   So i f  the  quest ion  i s  asked do LMT 

have the  capab i l i t y  o r  capac i ty?   The answer  i s  yes  fo r  

p ro to t yp ing  fo r  low vo lume type product ion  –  the  answer  i s  
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yes .   For  h igh  –  fo r  h igh  vo lume p roduct ion  I  do  no t  be l ieve  

tha t  they had the  capab i l i t y  and in  i t  –  to  execute  Hoefys te r  

they probab ly  wou ld  have invested  a  lo t  o f  money  in  the i r  

in f ras t ruc tu re  to  do  tha t .  So I  th ink  tha t  i s  a  –  I  th ink  tha t  i s  

impor tan t  maybe  jus t  to  no te  tha t .   Sor ry  the  second  

quest ion .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I  th ink  you  have –  I  th ink  you have 

covered what  I  was rea l l y  t ry ing  to  ge t  a t .  

MR TEUBES:   Thank you.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Bu t  your  v iews tha t  you have jus t  10 

expressed they were  no t  –  you were  no t  consu l ted  be fo re  

the  dec is ion  was taken by  o thers  to  go  ou t  on  a  RFO? 

MR TEUBES:   No th is  i s  –  th is  is  in  the  major i t y  o f  the 

cases th i s  i s  –  th is  i s  done on  a  prog ram leve l  bu t  the  

EXCO cannot  jus t  excuse and f rom th is  dec i s ion  when th is  

dec is ion  is  then presented or  the  ou tcome o f  th is  a t  EXCO 

leve l  then EXCO needs to  make a  ca l l  on  the  p rocess tha t  

was fo l lowed yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Now you then on pages 21 to  23  se t  

ou t  the  de ta i l  o f  what  you were  ab le  to  p i ck  up  f rom the  20 

documents  o f  the  cross- funct iona l  team and  the i r  

eva lua t ion ,  cor rec t?  

MR TEUBES:   That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Bu t  you were  no t  invo l ved pe rsona l l y  

in  tha t  p rocess?  
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MR TEUBES:   That  i s  cor rec t  as  par t  o f  the  p repara t ion  fo r  

the  commiss ion  and the  quest ions tha t  was asked I  d id  my 

own research  and  th is  i s  the  in fo rmat ion  tha t  I  cou ld  co l lec t  

on  tha t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Now you re fer  on  page 22 to  a 

recommendat ion  made by  the  cross- funct iona l  team 

paragraph 5 .1 .10 .   You see tha t?  

MR TEUBES:   That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Cross- funct iona l  team made a  

submiss ion  to  the  DLS EXCO were  you par t  o f  tha t  EXCO 10 

tha t  cons idered the  recommendat ion?  

MR TEUBES:   Cha i r  yes  I  was par t  o f  tha t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And what  was the  recommendat ion  

fo r?  

MR TEUBES:   The recommendat ion  was fo r  the  con t rac t ing  

o f  VR Laser.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   D id  –  was the  dec is ion  to  be  taken by  

EXCO or  anybody  e lse?  

MR TEUBES:   The de legat ion  –  th is  was above the  

de legat ion  o f  the  DLS EXCO so the  DLS EXCO’s  ro le  in  20 

th is  was a  recommendat ion  to  the  co rpora te  o f f i ce .   

Because th is  spec i f i c  de legat ion  was above DLS.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   So  Ms Malah le la  and her  c ross-

funct iona l  team made a  recommendat ion  to  EXCO.   You 

were  requ i red  to  approve tha t  recommendat ion  be fore  i t  
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went  h igher  bu t  the  fac t  tha t  you approved i t  was not  the  

f ina l  word .   You –  your  approva l  was s imp ly  to  approve i t  

as  a  recommenda t ion  to  head o f f i ce .  

MR TEUBES:   Ja  Cha i r  i f  i t  i s  okay I  do  no t  th ink  i t  i s  

approved we can on ly  recommend i t  onwards.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.  

MR TEUBES:   So  –  ja  so  there  was no approva l  f rom our  

s ide .   We had eva lua te  i t  and then i f  we were  happy and 

we –  i f  we suppor t  i t  then we recommended i t  fo r  a  h igher  

approva l .  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I f  I  m igh t  jus t  have a  moment  Cha i r?  

I f  I  can  ask  you p lease to  tu rn  to  page 408.    

MR TEUBES:   I  have got  i t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   A re  you fami l ia r  w i th  th is  document  

tha t  you have re fer red  to  in  your  a f f idav i t?  

MR TEUBES:   That  i s  the  submiss ion  yes to  the  DLS  

EXCO.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And re la t ing  spec i f i ca l l y  to  th is  

Hoefys ter  Hu l l  cont rac t?  

MR TEUBES:   That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And the  appo in tment  o f  VR Laser.   

Now i t  i s  a t  page 412 space is  made fo r  you to  s ign  as  

recommending the  proposa l  fo r  the  award  to  VR Laser  in  

your  capac i ty  as  Ch ie f  Opera t ing  Off i cer,  was tha t  your  

capac i ty  a t  tha t  s tage?  
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MR TEUBES:   That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And who d id  you repor t  to  Mr  Teubes?  

MR TEUBES:   Cha i r  I  repor ted  to  Mr  S tephan Burger  as  the  

CEO of  Dene l  Land Systems.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   So  he was CEO,  you were  COO,  

cor rec t?  

MR TEUBES:   That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And there  was space prov ided  apar t  

f rom your  name and tha t  o f  Mr  Knoetze  the  Ch ie f  F inanc ia l  

Off i cer  a t  the  foo t  o f  the  top  ha l f  be low your  name there  is  10 

prov is ion  fo r  Mr  Burger  to  endorse  the  recommendat ion  in  

h is  capac i ty  as  CEO.  

MR TEUBES:   That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   D id  you and he in  fac t  endorse  the  

recommendat ion?  

MR TEUBES:   No  we d id  no t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And why was tha t?  

MR TEUBES:   Cha i r  the  submiss ion  tha t  was made a t  th is  

s tage was made wi th  o ld  i n fo rmat ion .   Th i s  p r ices  tha t  was  

submi t ted  here  was s t i l l  based –  rece ived in  2012  so  we  20 

be l ieved tha t  the  supp l ie rs  shou ld  ge t  an  oppor tun i t y  to  put  

up  f resh  submiss ions f i rs t l y.   Second ly  these quotes  tha t  

they re fer  to  was not  va l id  anymore  a t  tha t  s tage Cha i r.   So 

i t  was f rom a  process pe rspect ive  a lso  no t  an  oppor tune  

po in t  to  take  a  dec is ion  w i th  quota t ions tha t  was not  va l id .  
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ADV KENNEDY SC:   So  tha t  i s  a  submiss ion  on  the  25  

Apr i l  2014 page 409.  

MR TEUBES:   That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And you d id  no t  accept  the  

recommendat ion  o f  the  cross- func t iona l  team you requ i red  

fu r ther  updates  to  be  prov ided to  you – to  the  organ isa t ion .  

MR TEUBES:   That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t  and were  those upda tes  then  

asked fo r  by  DLS  o f  the  b idders?  

MR TEUBES:   They accord ing  to  my knowledge Cha i r  they 10 

went  ou t  then on a  fo rmal  RFP process to  the  d i f fe ren t  

b idders  yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t .   Now i f  I  can  take  you p lease i f  

I  m igh t  jus t  have a  moment?   Page  255.   Now 255 contains 

a ser ies of  emai ls .   I  would l ike you p lease,  i f  you would,  to  

go to what appears to be,  at  least  hal fway down, an emai l  

f rom you sent  on the 25t h of  Apri l  2014 addressed to Ms 

Malahlela and copied to var ious others.   Do you have that? 

MR TEUBES :    I  have got  i t  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Can you just  read for the record?  You 20 

subject  refers to  an urgent  Exco meet ing for the hul l  

suppl ier.   Just  read for the record what you say:   Hel lo,  

Cel ia. . .  

MR TEUBES :    Yes.  

“Hel lo,  Cel ia.   As an input  to the meet ing,  please 
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check the LMT Shareholder Agreement and i f  there  

are any reference made to Hoefyster.    

I  again got  an SMS now from Stephan Nel ,  accusing 

us of  cont ravening the shareholders agreement wi th  

regards wi th us contemplat ing contract ing other  

part ies on the hul l  manufactur ing.”  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Now the Commission has al ready 

heard evidence that  there was three offers submit ted to DLS 

in response to the RFO.  One we know was f rom VR Laser 

which was recommended to be accepted by the Cross-10 

Funct ional  Team.   

 There were two others,  according to the evidence 

al ready produced and referred in your evidence too,  that  one 

was LMT and the other one was DCD. 

MR TEUBES :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Now just  explain to the Chair  about  

th is SMS that  you got  f rom Dr Nel .   Who is Dr Nel  and who 

was he at  that  t ime? 

MR TEUBES :    Dr  Nel  is the CEO of  LMT.   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   And what was his complaint? 20 

MR TEUBES :    His complaint  f rom his perspect ive is  that  in  

the shareholders agreement there was some exclusivi ty for 

the Hoefyster contract  al located to  LMT and he would l ike us 

to abide that  speci f ic condi t ion in the shareholders 

agreement.  
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ADV KENNEDY SC :    So you were asking,  as I  understand 

you emai l ,  f rom Ms Malahlela to check up i f  Dr Nel ’s 

complaint  was val id?  In other words,  whether the agreement 

between Denel  and LMT, in fact ,  gave them an ent i t lement to 

the business.  

MR TEUBES :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And d id she come back to  you and 

advise you on a response to your query? 

MR TEUBES :    Chai r,  what she did,  she consul ted wi th our  

Internal  Legal  Execut ive,  Ms Denise Govender to get  a copy 10 

of  the shareholders agreement because we did not  have one 

at  DLS because the shareholding was at  corporate level .    

 So al l  these documents were on that  level .   Denis did an 

analysis for Ms Malahle la on this quest ion and then she gave 

a response on that .   Ja.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   And what did you understand 

the response to be,  to the effect  that  there was a problem 

that  you were bound to give the business to LMT or not? 

MR TEUBES :    My understanding Chair  f rom that  response 

was:   No,  there is  no obl igat ion on us.   The obl igat ion on us 20 

through that  agreement was that  we wi l l  endeavour to assist  

LMT with business,  business development and order cover  

but  i t  was not  project  speci f ic.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Now your aff idavi t  f rom page 23 to  

page 25 refers to the query that  was raised,  ar is ing f rom the 
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SMS received f rom Dr Nel .   Is that  correct? 

MR TEUBES :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And we do not  need to take you 

through i t .   I  bel ieve i t  is in the detai ls that  is he lpful ly set  

out  there.   And then,  you refer  in  paragraph 5.1.20 to an 

emai l  between yoursel f ,  Mr Knoetze and Ms Govender and 

you wi l l  f ind that  at  page 417,  I  bel ieve.  

MR TEUBES :    [No audible reply]   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Is that  correct? 

MR TEUBES :    I  have got  i t  Chai r.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Mr Kennedy,  you ment ioned qui te a few 

page numbers.   Did you end up wi th  417? 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    I t  is 417,  yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Is that . . .   Does that  ref lect  the 

correspondence that  you had wi th Ms Govender and 

Mr Knoetze? 

MR TEUBES :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  th ink when you have your head l ike that ,  20 

I  cannot hear properly.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Oh,  sorry.  

CHAIRPERSON :    He says i t  not  captured properly,  ja .   Ja.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    I  am sorry Chai r.   Thanks for the 

guidance.    
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CHAIRPERSON :    Actual ly . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    I  wi l l  put  the microphone on.   I  beg 

your pardon.    

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    I  am af raid my eyesight  is not  good 

and the l ightning is not  great  and . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    [ Indist inct ]  is . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   No,  no.   But  I  was saying you were 

. . . [ indist inct ]   I  th ink your  eyesight  probably has improved 10 

qui te a lot  s ince somet ime back.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I t  used to be qui te a chal lenge.   [ laughing]    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    No,  but  I  th ink you have improved qui te a 

lot .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    I t  has a bi t .   I  have had some surgery.   

Thank you Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    What was the upshot,  now that  you 20 

have resolved. . .  had you resolved the issue that  Dr Nel  had 

ra ised? 

MR TEUBES :    I  bel ieve so Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    A lr ight .  

MR TEUBES :    Yes.  
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ADV KENNEDY SC :    And what the happened with the award 

of  the bid?  Did you then proceed to make a decision to  

award the business or was there a further step for  further  

rev ision of  pr ices? 

MR TEUBES :    Chai r,  af ter th is. . .  just  for c lar i ty.   Af ter th is  

f i rst  submission in Apri l ,  which we did not  accept ,  they went  

out  on a RFP process.   There was a process fol lowed and 

post  that  process,  DLS Exco made a recommendat ion and i t  

was subsequent ly  approved then on corporate level  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   And what was the decis ion? 10 

MR TEUBES :    The decis ion was to contract  VR Laser  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   Do you know at  corporate level  

made the decision to approve? 

MR TEUBES :    That  was approved by the Group CEO. 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Was that  Mr Saloojee at  that  stage? 

MR TEUBES :    Thank you,  Chai r.    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   Do you have any knowledge 

whether Mr Saloojee had the author i ty under the delegat ion 

then appl icable at  his level  or whether i t  requi red further  

approval  or f inal  approval  by the board? 20 

MR TEUBES :    Chai r,  Mr Saloojee’s delegat ion at  that  stage 

was up to R 200 mi l l ion.   So any contract  wi thin that  l imi t ,  he 

could approve.   And he d id point  to  me that  th is cont ract  that  

he f inal ly approved was wi th in that  l imi t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Now you then in your aff idavi t  f rom 
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page 25,  paragraph 5.2 deal  wi th  the adjudicat ion of  the 

updated request  for  proposals.   So that  preceded the f inal  

approval  of  the awards to VR Laser.   Is that  correct? 

MR TEUBES :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    25,  26,  27.   Now I  would l ike to stop at  

a point  at  page 27,  paragraph 5 to 10.   And there is a  

reference to an undertaking being given by Mr Burger to 

negot iate wi th VR Laser Services as the leading product  to  

reduce the pr ice they had offered.   How did that  come 

about? 10 

MR TEUBES :    Chai r,  Ms Cel ia Malahlela shared wi th mysel f  

and Mr Burger the outcome of  the Cross-Funct ional  Team, 

their  recommendat ion.   And as then in evaluat ing that ,  Mr 

Burger then made this comment that  a l though VR Laser is  

the preferred suppl ier,  that  he wi l l  then st i l l  negot iate wi th 

them to reduce the pr ice further.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    But  th is was a compet i t ive process 

involving,  maybe not  a  publ ic tender,  but  an RFO for  three 

bidders who were compet ing against  each other,  not  so? 

MR TEUBES :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.    20 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.   Do you know whether the other  

bidders were also asked to adjust  the ir  pr ices at  the t ime 

that  Mr Burger said he would negot iate wi th VR Laser? 

MR TEUBES :    Chai r,  no.   The other bidders did not  get  an 

opportuni ty.  
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ADV KENNEDY SC :    Do you have any view as to  whether 

that  was fai r  or appropriate? 

MR TEUBES :    Chai r,  I  th ink the fact  that  everyth ing was 

closed and the recommendat ion was made.  What happen 

normal ly wi thin Denel  envi ronment,  there is no changes then 

to the informat ion on that  recommendat ion up to the point  

where i t  is approved.    

 And then post-approval ,  then we wi l l  get  a mandate to  

negot iate wi th the selected suppl ier  to see i f  we can reduce 

the pr ices.    10 

 I  do submit  that  the interact ion wi th a suppl ier pr ior  to 

the f inal  approval  on the correct  level  is not  worth in the 

Denel  processes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.   I  am sorry.   Just  repeat  that  f inal  

answer.   Or just  repeat  your answer again to that  quest ion.  

MR TEUBES :    Yes.   That  in Denel ,  in the process of  

adjudicat ion up to  a point  where a f inal  approval  is given,  i t  

is not  worth in  the processes that  you can engage with a 

suppl ier.    

 Post  to that  approval  -  what happened in a lot  of  cases,  20 

we wi l l  then give a mandate to do a negot iat ing team to say:   

We would l ike you to reduce your. . .   Go and negot iate and 

reduce the pr ice another X percent .    

 So there is always the goal  of  further pr ice reduct ion 

post  the f inal  approval  of  that  cont ract  or the submission.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Are you saying that  because of  what you 

have just  said.   There would have been.. .  there was no need 

for the other suppl iers to be g iven a chance to reduce thei r  

pr ices.  

MR TEUBES :    I  . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Or do I  misunderstand you? 

MR TEUBES :    No.   I  th ink. . .   Wel l ,  the pr inciple factor is,  i f  

one suppl ier is g iven an opportuni ty dur ing the evaluat ion 

process,  al l  the other suppl iers need to have a simi lar 

opportuni ty.  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  yes.   Yes,  okay.  

MR TEUBES :    Which was not  in th is case.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  okay.   Alr ight .   Thank you.   

Mr Kennedy.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Thank you.   Mr Teubes,  would this  be 

done at  a  stage that  the decision had already been taken to 

award the cont ract  to that  party and having decided that  he 

would then make an effort  to reduce thei r  pr ice a bi t?  

MR TEUBES :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Ja.  20 

MR TEUBES :    But  that  happens post  the approval  for 

contract ing.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And would they be aware when they 

were approached to negot iate a reduct ion,  that  they had 

been approved? 
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MR TEUBES :    Chai r,  I  would not  know.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.   Because i f  they knew that  they 

were approved,  there would not  exact ly be much inducement  

on them to negot iate,  at  least ,  substant ia l ly downwards.  

MR TEUBES :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.   Now was there an issue in  

re lat ion to the budget . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Just  one second Mr Kennedy.   I  am sorry.   

When there are negot iat ions post  the adjudicat ion for  the 

reduct ion of  the pr ice by the winning bidder,  even i f  they 10 

have not  been told that  they have won, does that  reduct ion 

or does the reduct ion that  is contemplated in that  s i tuat ion,  a 

reduct ion in the pr ice,  a  reduct ion that  could go down even 

more than the pr ices that  have been offered by the other 

suppl iers who lost?  Or i t  could,  i t  might  or i t  might  not? 

MR TEUBES :    I t  d id. . .   Chai r,  there is no speci f ic guidance 

on that .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR TEUBES :    So i t  depends on the compet i tors,  how close 

they were in terms of  pr ic ing . . . [ intervenes]   20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  

MR TEUBES :    . . .compared to the winning bid.   But  i f  there 

is a signi f icant  di fference,  then normal ly you would not  get  

c lose to i t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  
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MR TEUBES :    We are not  ta lk ing about huge percentages.   

Normal ly that  we can negot iate.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  

MR TEUBES :    Normal ly,  i t  is in  the region of  5% to 7% that  

we can negot iate.   Ja.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  Wel l ,  i t  may be that  there ought to 

be no object ion in pr inciple to  post  the adjudicat ion 

negot iat ions for the reduct ion of  the pr ice wi th the winning 

bidder.    

 I f  one approaches the matter on the basis that  whether  10 

or not  that  bidder  should have won, should be judged before 

the negot iat ion.    

 I f  i t  should not  have won, then the fact  that  the pr ice 

negot iated af ter,  is i r re levant .   I  should not  have won and at  

the point  at  which the adjudicat ion was made, i t  had a 

certain pr ice.   And that  is the pr ice on which i t  should have 

been judged.  

MR TEUBES :    H’m.  

CHAIRPERSON :    And i f  at  the t ime i t  was judged to the 

winner,  i t  was. . .  i t  deserved to win.   Then any negot iat ions 20 

that  could happen af ter – between i t  and the company,  

maybe is real ly nei ther here nor there.   I  am just  th inking 

aloud.  

MR TEUBES :    H’m.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Do you have some comments on that? 
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MR TEUBES :    Chai r,  I  fu l ly understand your point .  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  

MR TEUBES :    In my years at  Denel ,  I  have never been in a 

si tuat ion where there was a decision made to have a speci f ic 

suppl ier selected out  of  an evaluat ion process and then 

dur ing the negot iat ions,  that  posi t ion has changed 

substant ia l ly.   I  have not  seen that  yet .   Ja.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja,  i t  could be that  i f  there is – there is to  

be negot iat ions for the reduct ion of  the pr ice before 

adjudicat ion,  that  should be afforded to everybody because 10 

at  that  stage,  they are st i l l  a l l  compet ing.  

MR TEUBES :    Ja.  

CHAIRPERSON :    But  i f  the actual  adjudicat ion has 

happened and a part icular b idder has won and i t  deserved to 

win . . . [ intervenes]   

MR TEUBES :    Ja.  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . .on what was known at  that  t ime in terms 

of  i ts pr ice and so on,  then i t  may be that  i f  the company 

af terwards say:   Look,  maybe we can just  get  one mi l l ion or 

two mi l l ion off ,  you know, get  reduced.  20 

MR TEUBES :    Ja.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Maybe there should be no problem with 

that  because they have won already.  

MR TEUBES :    Ja.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.   So the quest ion should be whether 
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they deserve to win and i f  the answer is yes they d id deserve 

to win,  then the rest  should be f ine.  

MR TEUBES :    Ja.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  

MR TEUBES :    I  fu l ly agree Chai r.    

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR TEUBES :    I  th ink some of  the lessons learnt  in  th is is,  

that  we go through a process in adjudicat ion.   Then there are 

clar i f icat ion quest ions f rom the suppl iers and some of  th is 

could inf luence thei r  answers.  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR TEUBES :    And obviously,  there are processes to be 

fol lowed.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR TEUBES :    But  I  th ink the lesson learnt  here is af ter  th is  

evaluat ion process,  give everybody an opportuni ty for a f inal  

and best  offer before we close.    

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  

MR TEUBES :    Which we have not  done.    

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  20 

MR TEUBES :    But  I  th ink that  is an area that  we can 

improve on.   Ja.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja,  ja.   Mr Kennedy.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Thank you.   Of  course an al ternat ive 

approach might  wel l  be,  you do not  al low anybody to 
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negot iate further.   You have one chance as a bidder to  

submit  a bid and that  must  then be evaluated.    

MR TEUBES :    That  is t rue as wel l  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  yes.   That  is another one to say,  do 

not  say somebody has won i f  you are st i l l  unhappy wi th 

something l ike the pr ice.   When you say they have won,  

certainly something l ike a pr ice should be set t led.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Indeed.  And would you agree wi th me 

Mr Teubes that  a t  least  would have the advantage that  i t  

would avoid any corrupt ion or i r regular i ty wi th informat ion 

being shared wi th one bidder to,  for example,  reduce i ts  

pr ice to get  an advantage over another bidders which had 

started off  wi th the lowest  pr ice? 

MR TEUBES :    Ja,  I  fu l ly agree Chair.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   Okay.   Now in relat ion to th is 

part icular b id for the 217 hul ls.   VR Laser in the documents 

that  you have provided and also that  of  others,  other  20 

wi tnesses have indicated that  VR Laser was substant ia l ly 

more expensive than the LMT at  the tune of  about  a hundred 

mi l l ion.    

MR TEUBES :    H’m.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Were you aware of  that? 
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MR TEUBES :    Chai r,  I  was aware of  that ,  yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.   And there is also been evidence 

that  the amount that  would have been paid to VR Laser  

under the cont ract  i f  i t  was awarded at  i ts pr ice that  was 

being considered in the f inal  evaluat ion,  would have been 

way over  the budget  that  was avai lable by way of  funds 

al located for th is product .   Were you aware of  that? 

MR TEUBES :    I  was aware of  i t ,  yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    So at  execut ive level ,  d id  you discuss 

this when you were consider ing whether or  not  to endorse 10 

the recommendat ion of  the Cross-Funct ional  Team that  

despi te  th is  big  pr ice di fference,  VR Laser should be 

recommended to be awarded the contract? 

MR TEUBES :    Chai r,  the discussion was in twofold.   The 

one is the di fference between the pr ices wi th  the di fferent  

suppl iers but  obviously,  we would l ike to protect  the budget  

on the programme.  So the pr ices were also compared to the 

budget.   So we.. .    

 There was a lengthy discussion on the,  let  us cal l  i t  the 

integr i ty of  the pr ices,  especial ly given the changes of  pr ices 20 

on the 2012 versus the 2014 submissions.    

 And we were concerned,  how is i t  possible  that  wi thout  

substant ia l  change in informat ion we can have such a big 

pr ice swing in the di fferent  areas.    

 And I  have to state.   As LMT pr ice came down, the other  
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two suppl iers also went up,  2014 versus 2012.  So that  was 

– i t  was discussed but  at  the end of  the day,  Exco said that  

they would l ike to protect  the budget of  Phase 2 and make 

sure that  the f inal  pr ice is wi thin the budget.    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And was that  achieved?  Was the f inal  

pr ice achieved that  would br ing your organisat ion wi thin the 

budget level? 

MR TEUBES :    The. . .   I f  I ,  Chai r,  i f  I  can recal l .   The budget 

was about R 960 000 a uni t  and the pr ice that  we contracted 

eventual ly was a mi l l ion.    10 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And that  was a substant ia l  reduct ion 

on the part  of  VR Laser? 

MR TEUBES :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   I f  I  can take you please to page 

606?   

MR TEUBES :    [No audible reply]   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    This is a let ter that  was sent  by VR 

Laser ’s,  Mr J iyane.   Do you see that  at  page 613?  I t  is  

dated the 24t h of  June 2014 and i t  is addressed to 

Ms Cel ia Malahle la.   And i t  refers to an updated proposal  or 20 

updated quotat ion.   Does this  represent  the revised 

quotat ion af ter Mr Burger negot iated that  wi th them? 

MR TEUBES :    Yes,  Mr Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    H’m.  When Mr Burger negot ia ted wi th 

him, were you par t  of  those negot iat ions? 
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MR TEUBES :    No,  Chai r.    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Are you aware whether he did that  on 

his own or was co l leagues present? 

MR TEUBES :    I  do not  know.  I  do not  have any deta i ls on i t  

Mr Chai r.   So I  do not  know.  I  cannot give a comment i f  he 

was on his own or  wi th col leagues.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    A l r ight .   Now i f  I  can take you back to  

page 29.   Your aff idavi t  sets out  a table.   From pages 29 to 

30 is a table.   What does that  ref lect? 

MR TEUBES :    Chai r,  that  ref lects a summary of  the revised 10 

proposal  that  was sent  f rom VR Laser.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   And i t  is apparent  f rom this  

table,  correct  me i f  I  am wrong,  that  some pr ices were 

reduced but  some or di fferent  i tems were kept  the same.  

MR TEUBES :    That  is  correct ,  Chai r.   On al l  the smal l  

amounts and then the indust r ia l isat ion and the learning 

curve areas,  those pr ices were kept  the same.  The pr ices 

that  were reduced was on ser ies product ion pr ices.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And i f  we look at  page 30,  where do we 

f ind that? 20 

MR TEUBES :    Chair  that  is just  above the heading,  

quotat ion for . . . [ indist inct ]  protect ion only.   You wi l l  see 

there,  there is ser ies product ion uni ts based on the DLS 

schedule.   The in i t ia l  pr ice was R 1.108 mi l l ion and then they 

are br inging i t  down to one – just  over one mi l l ion.  
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ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   Qui te a substant ia l  d i fference.  

MR TEUBES :    That  is correct .   I t  is roughly about 10% 

Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.   Now you then refer to your -   

recommending that  – th is is in 5.2.21 – that  the reduced 

pr ice be incorporated into a draf t  submission to Exco for a 

f inal  decision by Exco,  correct? 

MR TEUBES :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And then you refer at  the top of  the 

next  page to a di fferent  v iew being expressed by 10 

Ms Malahlela.   Did she convey that  you? 

MR TEUBES :    No,  she did.   Yes,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And what in  essence of  the point  of  

d isagreement between you and her?  Was i t  whether or not  

the revised pr ice could be incorporated into the submission 

to Exco? 

MR TEUBES :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.   Her v iew was exact ly  

as descr ibed ear l ier.   Is that  there was a process fol lowed 

and you cannot consider any other inputs of  the closure date 

of  these submissions.    20 

 My view was that  yes I  agree wi th that .   But  th is speci f ic  

pr ice is lower f rom a – let  us cal l  i t  f rom a programme 

advantage perspect ive.    

 And I  thought that  i t  would add – give us a bet ter 

negot iat ion posi t ion as wel l  as a mandate f rom management  
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to include that .    

 But  I  have to state and i t  is further stated that  I  have 

agreed with her and that  the submission was not  updated.   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    I t  was not  updated? 

MR TEUBES :    No.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   Was the matter then referred to 

Exco? 

MR TEUBES :    Yes,  Chai r.   Oh, i f  I  can just  correct?  The 

matter of  d i fferences between me and Ms Malahle la was not  

referred.   We have agreed on i t .   So we – the two of  us were 10 

happy wi th i t .   So the submission was then referred.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Sorry?  The submission was. . .?  

MR TEUBES :    Referred to Exco for further recommendat ion.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    R ight .   And what – how did Exco deal  

wi th i t?  

MR TEUBES :    They recommended i t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Recommend.  And was that  in terms of  

the f inal  revised pr ice that  we have just  been looking at ,  

going down to just  over a mi l l ion? 

MR TEUBES :    No,  i t  was st i l l  the or ig inal  submission f rom 20 

Ms Malahlela.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And was there then to be further  

negot iat ions thereaf ter? 

MR TEUBES :    They could not  make that  cal l  unt i l  that  was 

approved Chai r  on group level .  
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ADV KENNEDY SC :    And what happened then? 

MR TEUBES :    Can I  just  for c lar i ty? 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.  

MR TEUBES :    I t  was then referred to group level .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    I t  was then referred to group level? 

MR TEUBES :    Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    I t  was then approved at  group level? 

MR TEUBES :    That  is correct .   That  is correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And was there to be any further  

at tempt negot iat ing reduct ion af ter group level  approval? 10 

MR TEUBES :    Yes.   Yes,  Chai r.   This revised proposal  that  

was sent  that  was not  considered,  gave us at  least  an 

indicat ion that  they are wi l l ing to reduce thei r  pr ices.   So 

that  was then given as a goal  in  terms of  the contracted 

pr ice wi th VR Laser.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.   Now what did you understand to 

be mot ivat ing Ms Malahlela’s resistance to include the 

rev ised pr ice even though i t  gave an advantage of  f inancia l  

benef i t  to Denel?  What was – what did you understand her 

purpose to be doing – to be in  resist ing your  suggest ion that  20 

the proposal  be updated for submission to Exco? 

MR TEUBES :    I  do not  th ink there was any sinister Chair  – 

any sinister v iews.   I t  was purely – this is a process that  was 

fol lowed.   And she would l ike us to st ick to the process as 

wi thin the pol ic ies of  Denel .  
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ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right ,  thank you.   I f  I  can take you 

please to your aff idavi t ,  paragraph 37?  You refer to your 

concluding a covering let ter mot ivat ing for the conclusion of  

an MOU with VR Laser to  be signed off  by Mr Burger.   Did 

you at tend to that? 

MR TEUBES :    Yes,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And did she in fact  approved i t?  

MR TEUBES :    He signed i t  and the approval  level  was on 

group.   So he s igned i t  be recommended for approval  on 

group level .  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   Now just  to ask you to give a 

comment as to how you fel t  about  the process overa l l  that  

was been conducted here for the grant  of  a contract  to VR 

Laser? 

MR TEUBES :    Mr Chai r,  just  for c lar i ty.   Are we referr ing to  

the Hul l  Cont ract  or the MOU? 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    The whole process that  led up to the 

approval  of  the MOU.  Did you feel  that  i t  was being done 

correct ly?  Did you feel  i t  was being done with  suff ic ient  t ime 

and at tent ion and compl iance wi th procedures? 20 

MR TEUBES :    I . . .   Fi rst ly,  I  th ink there was a rush to get  

th is through.  And then in hindsight ,  at  that  stage,  i t  d id not  

concern me.  I  d id not  have speci f ic concerns of  why i t  is 

rushed.  I  th ink h indsight ,  I  have to  say,  I  am concerned with 

the fact  that  i t  was rushed through.   
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 I  th ink the fact  that  i t  started as an MOU as an in i t ia l  

process.   There is also not  a clear  process in Denel  to 

handle MOU’s.   There are clear processes for  s ingle – 

approval  of  s ingle source suppl iers but  not  MOU’s.    

 So I  th ink,  at  that  stage,  I  d id not  quest ion i t  but  in  

hindsight ,  I  would agree that  yes there is a level  of  

uncomfortableness wi th i t .    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Chai r,  at  th is  stage,  may I  ask – may I  

suggest  a  f ive minute adjournment  so that  we can at tend to  

the problem that  was raised ear l ier.   And that  was the 10 

missing supplementary aff idavi t .   A t  th is stage,  i t  would be 

convenient  to refer  the wi tness to that .   May we ask for just  

a f ive minute adjournment  so that  your f i le wi th your  leave 

may be updated wi th the addi t ion of  that  aff idavi t?  

CHAIRPERSON :    Do you not  th ink we may be should just  

make i t  a tea-adjournment? 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    As you please.  

CHAIRPERSON :    So that  we do not  have to take another 

t ime.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Certainly Chair.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    So we might  end up wi th about  ten 

minutes.   But  you wi l l  let  me know once you are ready.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Thank you.    

CHAIRPERSON :    We adjourn.  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 
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INQUIRY RESUMES  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  Mr  Kennedy.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Cha i r,  thank you.   May we thank you  

fo r  the  indu lgence to  ge t  the  papers  in  o rder.   Once aga in ,  

apo log ies  fo r  the  prob lem.   You have befo re  you,  Cha i r,  the 

main  a f f idav i t  wh ich  you have a l ready admi t ted .   May we 

suggest  sub jec t  to  your  gu idance tha t  tha t  be  g iven  

…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    A re  you keep ing  your  mask on  

in ten t iona l l y  o r  you fo rgo t  to…? 10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    I t  i s  an  overs igh t ,  thank you,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    A l r igh t ,  okay.    

ADV KENNEDY SC:    One gets  scared when you  ac tua l l y  

s ta r t  to  ge t  so  used to  i t  tha t  i t  becomes a lmost  l i ke  

wear ing  your  g lasses but  thank you  fo r  your  gu idance.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  thank you .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    The main  a f f idav i t  has a l ready been  

admi t ted  and wha t  we suggested,  tha t  because admi t ted  as  

is  then e i the r  417A or  417.1  and then …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    You now ta l k  about  the  supp lementary?  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    No,  the  one tha t  has a l ready been  

admi t ted .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Jus t  to  d is t ingu ish  i t  f rom the  two 

supp lementar ies  tha t  we a re  go ing  to  dea l  w i th  now.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  you want  us  to  change W17 to  

W17.1?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes,  may I  suggest  tha t?  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.   Wel l ,  we can do –  we can leave i t  

as  W17 and make  the  next  one W17.1  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    As  you p lease,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  so  maybe  le t  us  do  i t  tha t  way 

because on record  we have a l ready sa id  th is  one is  W17.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you,  Cha i r.   And may  we now 

d i rec t  your  a t ten t ion  to  what  has been added to  your  f i le  as  10 

you gave leave to  do  dur ing  the  tea  ad journment .   You 

shou ld  f ind  a t  page 850… 

CHAIRPERSON:    850?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    …a f i rs t  supp lementa ry  a f f idav i t  

wh ich  we wou ld  ask  once the  w i tness has conf i rmed i t s  

accu racy to  be  admi t ted  as  W17.1 .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  I  have got  i t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And tha t  w i l l  run  fo r  many pages w i th  20 

–  inc lud ing  a  number  o f  annexures.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And then I  ment ioned tha t  we have  

rece ived now a  fu r ther  supp lementa ry  a f f idav i t  wh ich  I  

unders tand has a lso  been added  to your  bund le  tha t  you 
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w i l l  f ind  a t  page 1078.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  I  have got  i t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And we w i l l  ask  tha t  tha t ,  once i t  has  

been conf i rmed by  the  w i tness,  be  admi t ted  as  W17.2 .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    In  fac t  may I  jus t  co r rec t  myse l f ,  i t  i s  

cur ren t ly  no t  in  the  fo rm o f  an  a f f idav i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    I t  i s  cur ren t l y  in  the  fo rm o f  a  s igned  

s ta tement .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  tha t  i s  f ine .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    That  Mr  P i l lay,  the  a t to rney ass is t ing  

Mr  Teubes,  has k ind l y  ind ica ted  tha t  he  w i l l  a t tend to  i t  

s t ra igh t  a f te r  and  i f  tha t  can be subst i tu ted  in  a f f idav i t  fo rm 

in  due course .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay,  tha t  i s  f ine .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    May I  then jus t  go  th rough the  

process o f  re fe r r i ng  the  w i tness to  these two a f f idav i t s  o r  

s ta tements  and then jus t  ask  h im to  conf i rm the i r  cont rac ts  

and we w i l l  ask  fo r  fo rmal  admiss ion .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  okay.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you,  Cha i r.   Mr  Teubes,  can I  

ask  you p lease then to  re fer  to  page 850.  

MR TEUBES:    Yes,  I  am there .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Th is  i s  a  s ta tement /a f f idav i t .   I s  i t  
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cor rec t  tha t  you prepared th i s  a f f idav i t  o r  you f ina l i sed th is  

a f f idav i t?  

MR TEUBES:    Cha i r,  yes ,  tha t  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And so  tha t  was a t  the  request  o f  

invest iga to rs  o f  the  Commiss ion  who had ra ised cer ta in  

i ssues.  

MR TEUBES:    Cha i r,  yes ,  tha t  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And then may I  take  you p lease to  –  I  

am so r ry,  Cha i r,  I  have got  i t  here ,  i t  was concea led  by  the  

s tap le .   Page 862,  i s  tha t  your  s ignature  on  the  21  10 

October?   That  was a  week o r  so  ago and tha t  you  s igned  

th is  a f f idav i t .  

MR TEUBES:    Cha i r,  yes ,  tha t  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    In  f ron t  o f  Commiss ioner  o f  Oaths .   

Have you been th rough th is  a f f idav i t  and are  you sa t is f ied  

and can you swear  on  oa th  to  the  Learned Cha i r  tha t  the 

contents  a re  t rue  and cor rec t  as  fa r  as  your  knowledge 

goes?  

MR TEUBES:    Yes,  Cha i r,  tha t  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t ,  thank you.   We wou ld  then ask  20 

fo rmal ly  fo r  leave to  have th is  a f f idav i t  o f  the  21  October  

f rom page 850 admi t ted  in  the  reco rd  as  EXHIBIT W17.1 .  

CHAIRPERSON:    The s ta tement /a f f idav i t  o f  Mr  Reenen  

Teubes s ta r t ing  a t  page 850 i s  admi t ted  as  EXHIBIT 

W17.1 .  
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STATEMENT/AFFIDAVIT  OF MR REENEN TEUBES 

STARTING AT PAGE 850 HANDED IN AS EXHIBIT  W17.1  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you,  Cha i r .   May we then jus t  

comple te  th is  p rocess,  Mr  Teubes,  by  re fer r ing  you to  page  

1078?  

MR TEUBES:    Yes,  Mr  Cha i r .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    That  i s  re fe r red  to  as  supp lementa ry  

s ta tement  and i t  runs th rough to  page 1082,  i s  tha t  

cor rec t?  

MR TEUBES:    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i r .  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    On tha t  la t te r  page is  tha t  you 

s ignature  bear ing  the  da te  o f  yes te rday,  the  29  October?  

MR TEUBES:    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    I t  has  no t  ye t  been sworn  in  f ron t  o f  

Commiss ioner  o f  Oaths .  

MR TEUBES:    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Bu t  do  you  conf i rm the  ar rangement  

tha t  I  have made  wi th  your  a t to rney Mr  P i l lay  tha t  tha t  w i l l  

be  a t tended to  and we w i l l  be  sent  the  a t tes ted  vers ion  as  

a t tes ted  in  f ron t  o f  a  Commiss ioner  o f  Oaths?  20 

MR TEUBES:    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Have you been th rough the  contents  

o f  th is  s ta tement?  

MR TEUBES:    Yes,  I  have.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And you conf i rmed the  t ru th  and 
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cor rec tness o f  the  contents  as  fa r  as  your  knowledge  

goes?  

MR TEUBES:    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i r .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t ,  thank you.   Cha i r ,  we wou ld  

then ask  fo rmal ly  p lease leave to  have th i s  s ta tement  f rom 

page 1078 admi t ted  as  EXHIBIT W17.2 .  

CHAIRPERSON:    The supp lementa ry  s ta tement  o f  Mr  

Reenen Teubes appear ing  a t  page 1078 is  admi t ted  as  

EXHIBIT W17.2 .  

SUPPLEMENTARY STATEMENT OF MR REENEN TEUBES 10 

ON PAGE 1078 HANDED IN AS EXHIBIT  W17.2 .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And,  Cha i r ,  may we ask your  fo rmal  

leave to  subst i tu te  fo r  these pages the  pages  o f  the 

a f f idav i t  once i t  has  been commiss ioned and we g ive  you  

the  reassurance tha t  tha t  w i l l  be  done on ly  the  bas is  tha t  

there  w i l l  be  no  change to  the  content  o f  the  s ta tement .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  tha t  i s  in  orde r .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you,  Cha i r .   One f ina l  i ssue on  

th is  la te r  s ta tement ,  Mr  Teubes,  you re fer  to  a  number  o f  

annexures,  you have ind i ca ted  to  me pr iva te ly  tha t  the  20 

annexure  re fe rences in  fac t  re fe r  to  annexures by  the i r  

annexure  number  tha t  have a l ready been a t tached to  the  

main  a f f idav i t ,  i s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR TEUBES:     That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i r .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And so  on  tha t  bas is ,  Cha i r ,  we w i l l  
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no t  a t tach  any fu r ther  cop ies  because tha t  wou ld  s imp ly  be  

a  dup l i ca t ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I s  i t  apparent  f rom the  supp lementa ry  

s ta tement  tha t  the  re ferences to  the  annexures a re  

re ferences to  the  annexures to  h i s  main  a f f idav i t  because 

tha t  i s  impor tan t  o therw ise  when one reads the  

supp lementary  s ta tement  one w i l l  th ink  the  annexures a re  

m iss ing .   So i f  there  i s  …[ in te rvenes]  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes,  I  unders tand the  po in t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I f  in  the  tex t  o f  the  supp lementary  10 

s ta tement  i t  i s  c lear  tha t  the  annexures be ing  re fer red  to  

a re  those a t tached to  h is  main  a f f idav i t ,  tha t  i s  f ine ,  bu t  i f  

i t  i s  no t  apparent  f rom i t ,  i t  may be necessary  to  f ind  a  way 

o f  in fo rm ing whoever  reads tha t  the  annexures re fer red  to  

a re  those in  the  main  a f f idav i t .   That  m ight  be  done … 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes  

CHAIRPERSON:    One way o f  –  a  fo rmal  way o f  do ing  i t  

wou ld  be  maybe a  supp lementary  a f f idav i t  tha t  wou ld  

exp la in  tha t  by  h im.   An in fo rmal  way wou ld  be  some 

ind ica t ion  bu t  I  suspect  tha t  i t  i s  be t te r  to  do  i t  fo rmal ly .  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    May I  make a  suggest ion  in  tha t  

regard?  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    I t  i s  no t  c lea r  f rom the  s ta tement  tha t  

they are  in  fac t  annexures to  the  main  a f f idav i t ,  so  there  is  
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an  issue.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Th i s  i s  the  s ta tement  tha t  needs to  

be  conver ted  in to  an  a f f idav i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    May we then take  the  l iber ty  when 

tha t  a f f idav i t  i s  p repared,  perhaps where  he  makes the  f i rs t  

re fe rence to  an  annexure  by  number ,  you w i l l  f ind  tha t  a t  

page 1079,  pa ra  2 .1 .5 ,  i t  i s  r igh t  a t  the  foo t  o f  the  page.   

Perhaps what  I  wou ld  suggest  the  easy way ,  i f  i t  10 

sa t is fac tory  to  you,  Cha i r ,  i s  fo r  the  a f f idav i t  to  inc lude an 

add i t iona l  sentence to  say the  re ference to  th is  and a l l  

o ther  annexures  in  th is  a f f idav i t  a re  re fe rences to  

annexures to  my or ig ina l  a f f idav i t .   

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   No,  tha t  wou ld  be  in  o rder  and 

when i t  says  o r ig ina l  a f f idav i t  I  th ink  i t  m igh t  he lp  because  

tha t  a f f idav i t  now has an exh ib i t  number ,  i t  m igh t  be  

he lp fu l  to  say my  a f f idav i t  deposed to  on  such and  such a  

da te  wh ich  is  –  wh ich  has been admi t ted  as  EXHIBIT so  

and so .   That  wou ld  be  in  o rder  and I  guess what  we can  20 

do,  I  can grant  l eave tha t  the  rep lacement  a f f idav i t  tha t  i s  

go ing  to  be  pu t  in  may inc lude such an add i t iona l  

sentence.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you,  Cha i r .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Because he was go ing  to  do   -  he  was  
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s t i l l  go ing  to  go  to  a  Commiss ioner  o f  Oaths  fo r  th is  one.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    But  i t  i s  meant  to  be  exact ly  the  same as  

th is  bu t  I  am happy to  g ive  leave tha t  such a  sentence be  

inc luded.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you,  Cha i r .  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  tha t  EXHIBIT W17.2  w i l l  inc lude tha t  

sentence.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you,  Cha i r .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  okay.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    A re  you comfor tab le  w i th  tha t  

a r rangement ,  Mr  Teubes?  

CHAIRPERSON:    Thank you,  Mr  Cha i r ,  we w i l l  do .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t  and  our  team wi l l  obv ious ly  

l ia ise  w i th  your  a t to rney to  make sure  i t  i s  a l l  done in  the 

cor rec t  way and done speed i ly .  

MR TEUBES:    Thank you,  Mr  Cha i r .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you very  much.   R igh t ,  thank 

you,  Cha i r ,  may we then tu rn  to  the  supp lementary a f f idav i t  

rece ived  o r  s igned a  week or  so  ago,  tha t  i s  W17.1 ,  page 20 

850,  Mr  Teubes.  

MR TEUBES:    Thank you,  Mr  Cha i r .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Now some o f  th is  a f f idav i t  over laps  

w i th  the  a f f idav i t  tha t  we  have a l ready been th rough  a t  

leas t  on  the  hu l l s ’  cont rac t .   Does  th is  a f f idav i t  dea l  a t  a l l  
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w i th  the  hu l l s ’  cont rac t ,  the  one f rom 850?  You re fer  to  a 

prepayment  to  LMT.  

MR TEUBES:    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t .   Then  you dea l  a t  page  860 in  

parag raph 4  w i th  the  Hoefys ter  hu l l  con t rac t ,  tha t  i s  the 

one we dea l t  w i th  th is  morn ing  a l ready,  cor rec t?  

MR TEUBES:    Yes,  tha t  i s  cor rec t ,  Mr  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And you dea l  w i th  some spec i f i c  

quest ions tha t  were  ra i sed,  as  I  unders tand i t ,  by  the  

invest iga to rs ,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  10 

MR TEUBES:    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Mr  Cha i r .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.   So you expand on your  ear l ie r  

s ta tement  regard ing  the  Pat r ia  cont rac t  and is  there  

anyth ing  you wan t  to  add tha t  a r ises  f rom 4 .1?  

MR TEUBES:    Yes,  Mr  Cha i r,  the  Hoefys ter  hu l l  con t rac t  i s  

addressed in  paragraph 4  on  page  860.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.  

MR TEUBES:    Bu t  there  is  no th ing  more ,  Mr  Cha i r,  tha t  I  

wou ld  l i ke  to  add o ther  than what  was a l ready d i scussed.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Okay,  thank you.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    I  wou ld  l i ke ,  i f  I  may,  Cha i r ,  to  jus t  

d i rec t  the  a t ten t ion  o f  the  w i tness to  4 .2 .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    You re fer  to  e f fo r ts  f rom DLS to  
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improve LMT e f f i c iency and qua l i t y .   Now you have  re fer red  

to  some e f fo r ts  in  your  main  a f f idav i t .   As  I  unders tand i t ,  

you  were  here  g iv ing  fu r ther  de ta i l  and documenta t ion  jus t  

to  suppor t  what  you had sa id  in  the  main  a f f idav i t ,  i s  tha t  

r igh t?  

MR TEUBES:    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Mr  Cha i r .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And jus t  sum up fo r  us ,  p lease,  fo r  

the  Cha i r ,  what  was be ing  done and why in  regard  to  

e f fo r ts  by  DLS to  improve LMT’s  e f f i c iency?  

MR TEUBES:    Mr  Cha i r,  over  a  per iod  pre -ownersh ip  and  10 

post  ownersh ip  o f  LMT va r ious cont rac ts  f rom DLS was  

p laced on LMT,  a  var ie t y  o f  cont rac ts  rang ing  f rom des ign  

work  r igh t  th rough to  p roduct ion .    

Our  suppor t  on  tha t  was a  coup le  o f  th ings.   ,  f rom 

a  bus iness perspect ive  we had a  coup le  o f  ou r  sen io r  

peop le  tha t  in te rac ted  on a  regu lar  bas i s  w i th  LMT to  

suppor t  them in  te rms o f  bus iness management  and in  

te rms o f  qua l i t y,  some o f  these  communica t ions  tha t  I  

re fe r red  to  here  was f rom our  qua l i t y  execut ive  tha t  was  

he lp ing  and ass is t ing  LMT wi th  the i r  qua l i t y  p rocesses and 20 

we have a lso  d i spatched some o f  our  qua l i t y  inspectors  on  

a  regu lar  bas is  to  ass i s t  them on the i r  p roduct ion  l ines .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And was tha t  done befo re  the  RFO 

for  the  hu l l s  cont rac t  was issued?  

MR TEUBES:    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i r.  
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ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t .   Now tha t  b r ings us  then to  4 .3  

wh ich  is  what  in fo rmed the  move away f rom LMT and I  jus t  

want  to  take  you  back to  your  ev idence ear l ie r .   You have  

ind ica ted  tha t  there  were  prob lems wi th  LMT’s  

per fo rmance,  they were  be ing  addressed in  the  manner  

tha t  you have jus t  ind ica ted ,  a t tempts  to  improve.   That  

came wi th  the  ass is tance o f  DLS,  cor rec t?  

MR TEUBES:    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t .   And you have ment ioned 

e lsewhere  a  prepay ing  to  LMT,  was tha t  a lso  to  ass is t  them 10 

where  they were  s t rugg l ing?  

MR TEUBES:    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t .   Now the  prob lems wi th  the 

per fo rmance o f  LMT seem to  have  been an impor tan t  fac tor  

in  no t  g iv ing  the  hu l l  con t rac t  to  LMT but  ra ther  to  VR 

Laser  desp i te  the  fac t  tha t  VR Laser  was so  much more  

expens ive  than LMT,  i s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR TEUBES:    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Can I  ask  you a  hypothet ica l  

quest ion?  What  wou ld  have happened i f  the  commi t tee ,  20 

the  cross - funct iona l  team tha t  Ms  Malah le la  was head ing ,  

had come up w i th  a  recommenda t ion  tha t  g iven the  huge  

cost  sav ing  tha t  LMT was suggest ing  by  hav ing  such a  

lower  p r ice ,  tha t  i t  shou ld  be  recommended to  the  board  or  

to  head o f f i ce  to  g rant  the  award  o f  th is  cont rac t  to  LMT?  
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What  wou ld  your  a t t i tude have been? 

MR TEUBES:    Wel l ,  f i rs t l y  I  th ink ,  coming back  to  my 

ear l ie r  s ta tement  on  the  add i t iona l  p r ice  submi t ted  by  VR 

Laser,  whatever  t he  ou tcome o f  th is  p rocess was,  I  be l ieve  

i t  wou ld  have been an ob jec t i ve  process,  Cha i r.   So we 

wou ld  have accepted i t  bu t  unders tand ing  the  cha l lenges  

tha t  was w i th in  LMT we wou ld  have a lso  take  add i t iona l  

measures to  suppor t  them to  improve e f f i c iency,  to  improve  

qua l i f y  and I  be l ieve ,  l i ke  I  have sa id  ear l ie r  in  my 

feedback,  the re  wou ld  have been  a  s ign i f i can t  investments  10 

needed to  inc rease the i r  capac i ty  f rom a  pro to t ype low  

vo lume type env i ronment  to  a  h igh  ser ies  p roduct ion ,  so  a l l  

o f  tha t  wou ld  have been suppor t  f rom DLS to  improve LMT.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Do you have in  m ind what  k ind  o f  funds 

might  have been necessary  in  o rder  to  g ive  whatever  

suppor t  LMT shou ld  have been g i ven in  o rder  to  improve i t s  

e f f i c ienc ies?  

MR TEUBES:    Unfor tunate ly,  no ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .   Do you have an idea whe ther  i t  

cou ld  poss ib ly  be  anyth ing  c lose  to  the  d i f fe rence between  20 

VR Laser ’s  p r i ce  and LMT’s  pr ice?  

MR TEUBES:    Cha i r,  i t  wou ld  be  a  guess,  i f  I  g ive  you any  

ind ica t ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  ja .   Okay,  you do not  have… 

MR TEUBES:    I  do  no t  have an idea.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r igh t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Wou ld  i t  have been poss ib le ,  do  you 

th ink ,  wou ld  i t  have been not  adv isab le  to  look  i n to  tha t  

poss ib i l i t y  par t i cu la r ly  g i ven the  fac t  tha t  LMT was not  

some s t ranger  ou ts ide  th i rd  pa r ty  a t  a rm ’s  length ,  i t  was 

major i t y  owned and cont ro l led  by  Dene l .  

MR TEUBES:    Mr  Cha i r,  I  th ink  a l l  o f  these ac t ions  shou ld  

have happened pr io r  to  the  RFP process on  the  who le  

cont rac t  because  i f  you do these ac t ions post  then i t  wou ld  

no t  be  poss ib le  to  take  tha t  in to  account  th rough your  10 

eva lua t ion  process,  so  I  th ink  the  capab i l i t y  and the  

capac i ty  tha t  we are  ta lk ing  about ,  there  shou ld  have been  

some ind ica t ion  o f  how wou ld  they es tab l i sh  tha t  p re  the  

RFP p rocess.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t .   P resumably  –  I  am sor ry ,  

Cha i r .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  your  answer  reminds o f  the  

quest ion  wh ich  Mr  Kennedy migh t  s t i l l  be  go ing  to  in  due  

course  o f  whether  i f  you  had a  company,  such as  LMT,  

wh ich  was cont ro l led  by  Dene l   51% whether  i t  shou ld  be  20 

put  th rough any  compet i t ion  w i th  ou ts ide  compan ies  or  

whethe r  what  Dene l  shou ld  do ,  DLS shou ld  do ,  i s  th is  

company can do  th is  job ,  maybe  we jus t  need to  he lp  i t  

here  and there .   We might  need to  invest  some money and 

maybe go tha t  rou te  w i thout  invo l v ing  ou ts iders  to  compete  
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w i th  your  own company.   D id  you have any v iews on tha t?  

MR TEUBES:    Mr  Cha i r,  in  h inds igh t  i t  i s  eas ie r  to  have a  

v iew on i t  in  tha t  p rocess.   In  tha t  p rocess –  and th is  i s  the  

repor t  tha t  I  re fe r red  to  here ,  there  was s ign i f i can t  de l i very  

i ssues w i th in  LMT.   There  was s ign i f i can t  qua l i t y  i ssues on 

products  tha t  they de l i ve red.   So I  th ink  i f  tha t  was  sor ted  

ou t  and a t  leas t  there  was some f i rm bas is  f rom where  you 

cou ld  do  tha t ,  I  th ink  i t  wou ld  have been a  d i f fe ren t  v iew,  

yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   Wel l  because I  guess i f  you  have 10 

not  –  i f  you  do not  do  tha t  as  Dene l  o r  as  DLS wi th  regard  

to  LMT,  then you  f ind  yourse l f  in  a  s i tua t ion  where  LMT is  

compet ing  w i th  VR Laser  and whoever,  these are  ou ts ide  

compan ies ,  maybe you are  go ing  to  say we l l ,  we know our  

LMT,  they w i l l  no t  de l i ver  the  k ind  o f  qua l i t y  tha t  we  requ i re  

and there fo re  you  go fo r  an  ou ts ide r.    

But  i t  may we l l  be  tha t  i f  you  f rom the  beg inn ing  

sa id  look,  i f  we spend any money on LMT to  improve i t s  

e f f i c ienc ies ,  i t  i s  no t  jus t  fo r  now,  i t  i s  fo r  long te rm,  i t  i s  

an  investment  in  LMT the re fore  i t  i s  wor thwhi le  on  a  long  20 

te rm.  

MR TEUBES:    Ja .  

CHAIRPERSON:    That  wou ld  be  d i f fe ren t ,  wou ld  you 

agree?  

MR TEUBES:    I  th ink  i t  i s  a  va l id  po in t ,  Cha i r.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes .  

MR TEUBES:    Ja .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Mr  Kennedy?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you.   The Cha i r  has heard  

ev idence about  a  s t ra teg ic  v is ion  and purpose under ly ing  

en t i t ies  such as  LMT buy ing  a  s take in  LMT to  b r ing  i t s  

capac i ty  in -house .   You have a lso  re fer red  to  th is .   So you  

touched on th is  ear l ie r  in  your  ev idence.   Would  tha t  no t  

have been a  sens ib le  bus iness  dec is ion  in  the  w ider  

in te res ts  o f  the  group to  t ry  and enhance LMT ra ther  than 10 

jus t  re fus ing  i t  bus iness?  

MR TEUBES:    Mr  Cha i r,  yes ,  maybe jus t  touch ing  on the  

s t ra teg ic  in ten t ,  Dene l  Land Systems do not  have any 

veh ic le  capab i l i t y.   So what  do  we do,  i s  we have go t  guns,  

we bu i l t  a l l  var ious guns and we bu i l t  tu r re ts .   Now tur re t  i s  

the  por t ion  where  the  gun f i t  in ,  i t  f i t s  on  top  o f  a  veh ic le  

and we have been do ing  tha t  fo r  many years .   So what  –  a  

par t  o f  our  tu rna round s t ra tegy was to  pos i t ion  ou rse l ves  

as  what  we ca l l  a  leve l  5  sys tem in tegra te  and  leve l  5  

sys tem in teg ra tor,  i f  I  can  compare  w i th  the  c iv i l  20 

eng ineer ing  wor ld ,  i t  i s  a  tu rnkey  so lu t ion .   So you wou ld  

g ive  the  customer  the  who le  package and tha t  i s  what  

Hoefys ter  i s ,  as  an  example .  

 So DLS took a  dec is ion  tha t  we wou ld  l i ke  to  

pos i t ion  ourse l ves and we got  approva l  fo r  i t  as  a  l eve l  5 ,  a  
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sys tems house.   So to  do  tha t  we needed veh ic le  capab i l i t y  

and tha t ,  par t  o f  tha t ,  was the  LMT –  br ing ing  them wi th in  

the  fami ly.  

 Jus t  to  answer  the  quest ion  f rom tha t  perspect ive  

as  we l l ,  i s  I  th ink  i f  i t  was bus iness as  usua l  then i t  wou ld  

no t  have been a  prob lem to  take  tha t  dec is ion  and to 

suppor t  i t  bu t  un for tunate ly  a  lo t  o f  the  emai ls  and a  lo t  o f  

the  cor respondence is  c lear  tha t  a t  a  cer ta in  s tage there  

was a  to ta l  b reakdown in  re la t ionsh ips  be tween DLS and  

LMT.   So we grew apar t ,  we had d i f fe ren t  s t ra teg i c  v i s ions 10 

and I  th ink  look ing  back,  the  top  leadersh ip  tha t  were  

respons ib le  fo r  bo th  un i ts  shou ld  have p robab ly  reacted  on  

tha t  and brought  everybody back in  l ine .   I  was not  done  

and we wou ld  a l low i t  to  go  in to  d i f fe ren t  d i rec t ions and,  

un for tunate ly,  the  bus iness re la t ionsh ip  su f fe red  because 

o f  tha t  and I  th ink  tha t ,  as  a  bas is ,  un for tunate ly  had an  

impact  in  a re  we w i l l i ng  to  invest ,  yes  or  no .  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  you say the  bad re la t ionsh ip  tha t  

seems to  have deve loped between LMT and DLS or  the  

breakdown in  communica t ion  or  t he  tens ions may have in  a 20 

way cont r ibu ted  to  tha t  rou te  no t  be ing  looked a t  p roper ly?  

MR TEUBES:    Yes,  Cha i r,  ja .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    A l r igh t ,  thank you,  Cha i r .   May I  just  

to  comple te  th is  par t  o f  the  ev idence dea l ing  w i th  the  hu l l  

con t rac t ,  take  you back in  your  a f f idav i t  –  your  main  
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a f f idav i t  to  page 33.  

CHAIRPERSON:    What  page?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    33 .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

MR TEUBES:    Thank you, .  Mr  Cha i r.   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    You re fer  in  parag raph 5 .2 .3  to :  

Permiss ion  be ing  requested by  DLS to  negot ia te   

the  pr i ce  to  a  max imum of  1  050 000 per  hu l l  to  

b r ing  i t  down wi th in  the  budget  tha t  was then in  

p lace . ”  10 

Was tha t  approva l  g ran ted by  Exco? 

MR TEUBES:    By  Group.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    By  Group?  

MR TEUBES:    Group,  yes .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t  and then you re fer  in  5 .2 .32  to :  

“Cont rac t  negot ia t ions  took p lace wh ich  inc luded 

the  reduct ion  o f  the  pr i ce . ”  

Then you re fe r  to  a  meet ing  on  the  14  November  2014:  

“Where  DLS negot ia ted  main ly  fo r  a  p roduct ion  

pr ice  o f  R1 mi l l ion  pe r  un i t  fo r  each hu l l ,  payment  o f  20 

a  prepayment  o f  12%. ”  

E tce tera .   And then a t  the  top  o f  the  next  page you  re fer  to  

the  peop le  who were  inv i ted  to  a t tend,  tha t  was Mr  J iyan i  

and Mr  van der  Merwe o f  VR Laser  Serv ices  and Ms 

Malah le la  and yourse l f  fo r  DLS.  



30 OCTOBER 2020 – DAY 295 
 

Page 65 of 115 
 

MR TEUBES:    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    D id  tha t  meet ing  in  fac t  take  p lace?   

You were  no t  s imp ly  inv i ted  bu t  you a t tended? 

MR TEUBES:    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    A l r igh t .   And what  was the  ou tcome 

o f  tha t?  

MR TEUBES:    Cha i r,  there  was ac tua l l y  a  ser ies  o f  

meet ings,  th is  was the  in i t ia l  meet ing  and I  cannot  reca l l  

exact ly  how many meet ings bu t  there  was coup le  o f  

meet ings tha t  happened on th i s  spec i f i c  sub jec t .  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    D id  you persuade VR Laser  to  reduce 

i t s  p r ice  to  exact ly  R1 mi l l ion  per  hu l l?  

MR TEUBES:    They d id  bu t  the  issue was esca la t ion ,  the  

esca la t ion  fo rmula  where  there  was a  th ree  month  

d i f fe rence between the  two pa r t ies ,  June to  November,  

th ree  to  four  mon ths ,  so  on  tha t  spec i f i c  one we cou ld  no t  

move them.   So the  pos i t ion  tha t  we were  be low the  

mandate  o f  1  050,  so  tha t  tha t  three  months  d i f fe rence in  

esca la t ion  is  a  lo t  less  than tha t  50  000 d i f fe rence.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    A l r igh t ,  thank you.   May we now tu rn  20 

to  the  next  con t rac t  tha t  you dea l  w i th  in  you r  main  

a f f idav i t  and tha t  i s  a  cont rac t  tha t  was awarded in  2015 to  

VR Laser  serv ices  and tha t  re fe rs  –  you re fer  to  the  

memorandum of  agreement .   I s  i t  cor rec t  tha t  th is  re la ted  

to  appo in tment  o f  VR Laser  as  a  s ing le  source  supp l ie r  o f  
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cer ta in  componen ts?  

MR TEUBES:    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Now am I  cor rec t  in  unders tand ing  

these are  components  in  add i t ion  to  the  hu l l  tha t  was dea l t  

w i th  in  the  2014 cont rac t .  

MR TEUBES:    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Now …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    The s ing le  supp l ie r  concept  w i th in  the  

contex t  o f  Dene l ,  i s  i t s  essence tha t  when Dene l  appo in ts  a  

supp l ie r  as  a  s ing le  source  supp l ie r  tha t  Dene l  ac tua l l y  10 

g ives  away i t s  r i gh t  wh ich  i t  o the rw ise  wou ld  have  to  look  

fo r  somebody e l se  to  g ive  or  p rov ide  i t  w i th  the  same 

serv i ces  wh i le  tha t  o ther  agreement  w i th  tha t  serv i ce  

prov ider  i s  on?  For  example ,  i f  you  ta lk  about  a  l awyer ,  

you know,  a t to rneys,  as  a  company you can have an 

a t to rney whom you have appo in ted  to  do  cer ta in  work  fo r  

you but  tha t  does not  p revent  you f rom engag ing  another  

a t to rney to  do  someth ing  e lse  fo r  you,  even i f  i t  i s  s im i la r ,  

you know?   

 Or  you cou ld  ta l k  about  somebody to  p rov ide  you  20 

w i th  cer ta in  p roducts ,  you migh t  appo in t  somebody to  

p rov ide  you w i th  cer ta in  p roducts  bu t  you might  dec ide  tha t  

you ac tua l l y  need more  and go to  somebody e lse  to  a lso  

prov ide  you w i th  a  few.    You have not  g iven away your  

r igh t  to  look  fo r  somebody e l se ,  w i thout  be ing  in  b reach o f  
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any  agreement  w i th  the  cur ren t  supp l ie r.  

MR TEUBES:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    So is  the  essence o f  a  s ing le  supp l ie r,  

the  appo in tment ,  tha t  as  Dene l  you under take not  to  look  

fo r  some s im i la r  serv i ces  or  p roducts  f rom somebody e lse?  

MR TEUBES:    Cha i r  the  answer  i s  yes ,  bu t  w i l l  I  be 

a l lowed jus t  to  expand a  l i t t le  b i t  on  tha t  i f  I  may? 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR TEUBES:    In  our  s ing le  source  supp l ie r  mot iva t ions 

and se lec t ions we w i l l  never  op t  in  tha t  ca tegory  nobody 10 

tha t  supp l ies  the  normal  serv ice  tha t  you w i l l  f ind  ou t  in  the  

market  tha t  there  are  mul t ip le  compet i to rs  fo r  we w i l l  never  

go  fo r  a  s ing le  source .    

What  d r ives  a  s ing le  source  I  th ink  i t ’s  impor tan t  to  

know we deve lop  as  we l l  so  most  o f  the  products  tha t  we  

have s tar ts  f rom the  deve lopment  phase.   So you w i l l  

deve lop  a  spec i f i c  p roduct  fo r  a  spec i f i c  requ i rement  and in  

tha t  i t ’s  no t  h igh  vo lume i t s  re la t i ve ly  low vo lume.   There  is  

s ign i f i can t  investors  in  those components  so  you w i l l  no t  

have tha t  investment  in  mul t ip le  supp l ie rs .    20 

So you w i l l  go  ou t  and choose a  par tne r,  a  par tne r  

s ing le  source  supp l ie r  tha t  w i l l  ass i s t  you in  tha t  

deve lopment  phase as  we l l  as  the  product ion  phase.   So 

our  c r i te r ia  to  go  ou t  fo r  a  s ing le  source  and jus t  w i th  the  

PPPFA we actua l l y  need now a  days to  ge t  Nat iona l  



30 OCTOBER 2020 – DAY 295 
 

Page 68 of 115 
 

Treasury  approva l  fo r  a  s ing le  source .    

So a  s ing le  source  approva l  tha t  has changed over  

the  years  we l l  par t l y  because o f  Dene l  po l i c ies  tha t  has  

a lso  changed to  be  a l igned w i th  Nat iona l  Treasury  ru les ,  

my unders tand ing  o f  i t  i s  tha t  f i rs t ly  i s  i t  maybe a  OEM tha t  

has or ig ina l l y,  manufac tu red th is ,  i t ’s  go t  the  IP so  you 

cannot  go  to  somebody e lse .   The second por t ion  is  i t  

c r i t i ca l  in  te rms o f  manufac tur ing  p rocesses.    

So manufac tu r ing  processes tha t  cou ld  impact  the  

sa fe ty  o f  the  sys tem o r  cos t  o f  the  sys tem.   So a l l  o f  those 10 

fac tors  i s  taken in to  account  in  ou r  recommendat ion  or  ou r  

mot iva t ion  ra the r  to  Nat iona l  Treasury  fo r  tha t  approva l .   

So your  p r inc ip le  quest ion  is  yes  you prec lude o ther  peop le  

f rom tha t  bu t  I  th ink  i t ’s  no t  bu t  I  th ink  i t ’s  no t  an  easy 

process to  ge t  to  tha t  po in t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    And i t ’s  no t  so  much out  o f  cho ice  tha t  

you exc lude o ther  peop le .  

MR TEUBES:    Cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I t ’s  because o f  the  investments  tha t  may  

be invo lved in  deve lop ing  or  maybe because there  is  20 

in te l lec tua l  p roper ty  invo l ved wh ich  w i l l  fo rce  you to  use  

tha t  par t i cu la r  en t i t y  anyway.   

MR TEUBES:    Cor rec t .   

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay a l r igh t .   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you  Cha i r.   Mr  Teubes your  
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a f f idav i t  then goes onto  re fer  t o  Ms Malah le la  want ing  to  

pu t  th is  cont rac t  ou t  to  a  compet i t i ve  tender  o r  RFQ 

process i f  you  cou ld  look a t  your  page 35 paragraph 6 .1 .4  

and you backed tha t  up  w i th  annexures wh ich  are  emai ls  

and so  fo r th .   I s  i t  cor rec t  tha t  she ra ised tha t  p roposa l  o r  

in ten t ion  to  fo l low a  compet i t i ve  p rocess?  

MR TEUBES:    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i r.   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    I s  i t  cor rec t  tha t  you took a  d i f fe ren t  

v iew?  

MR TEUBES:    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i r.   10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Was tha t  you r  own v iew or  i s  t ha t  one 

tha t  was d ic ta ted  or  ins t ruc ted  to  you or  anybody e lse?   

MR TEUBES:    That  was a  v iew tha t  was ins t ruc ted  by  

somebody e l se  to  me.   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And who was  tha t?  

MR TEUBES:    That  was Mr  S tephan Burger.   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    What  was your  own persona l  v iew,  

d id  you be l ieve  tha t  i t  cou ld  or  shou ld  go  out  a t  leas t  on  an  

RFQ i f  no t  an  open tender.  

MR TEUBES:    My or ig ina l  v iew a l igned w i th  Ms 20 

Malah le la ’s  v iew but  in  the  d i scuss ion  w i th  Mr  Burger  the  

po in ts  tha t  he  pu t  on  the  tab le  in  te rms  o f  the 

in te rchangeab i l i t y  o f  these manufac tu r ing  components  as  

we l l  as  the  investment  needed  fo r  the  manufac tu r ing  

processes a f te r  hav ing  a  debate  o r  a  d iscuss ion  w i th  h im I  
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eventua l l y  ag reed  w i th  h is  v iew.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l  in  tha t  event  i t  p robab ly  i s  no t  

accu ra te  to  say i t  was a  v iew tha t  you were  ins t ruc ted  as  

such because I  th ink  you were  pe rsuaded.  

MR TEUBES:    That  i s  t rue .  

CHAIRPERSON:     Yes.  

MR TEUBES:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  i t  became your  own v iew as we l l  a f te r  

the  debate ,  yes .    

MR TEUBES:    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Mr  Cha i r.   10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay,  a l r igh t ,  bu t  the  po in t  you 

make is  tha t  p r io r  to  tha t  your  v iew was more  in  l ine  w i th  

Ms Malah le la ’s  v iew.   

MR TEUBES:    Cor rec t .   

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .   

MR TEUBES:    Cor rec t ,  and I  th ink  tha t  i s  backed up w i th  

my d iscuss ion  w i th  Mr  Drev in  and where  we  had a  

d iscuss ion  he  d id  h is  mot iva t ion  and tha t  mot iva t ion  was  

not  supp l ie r  spec i f i c .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.    20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t  thank you can I  ask  what  your  

op in ion  is  now w i th  the  benef i t  o f  h inds igh t .   Do you s t i l l  

ma in ta in  the  v iew tha t  you came to a f te r  be ing  persuaded 

by  Mr  Burger?  

MR TEUBES:    I  th ink  h inds igh t  ja  in  th is  case a l so  w i th  
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every th ing  tha t  happened around i t  I  p robab ly  wou ld  have  

s t i cked w i th  Ce l i a ’s  pos i t ion  i t  i s  jus t  w i th in  th is  who le  

process a  lo t  o f  th ings o ther  than  techn ica l  ab i l i t y  s ta r ted  

to  p lay  a  ro le .   So i f  le t  us  ca l l  i t  the  po l i t i ca l  ownersh ip  

par t  d id  no t  p lay  a  ro le  I  th ink  i t  was co r rec t  to  go  s ing le  

source  and not  to  go  ou t  in  mul t ip le  tender  bu t  the  fac t  tha t  

there  were  o ther  fac tors  s ta r t ing  to  p lay  a  ro le  in  h inds igh t  

I  wou ld  have done i t  d i f fe ren t ly.      

ADV KENNEDY SC:    D id  the  cont rove rsy  tha t  became 

apparent  in  the  med ia  about  who the  t rue  shareho lders  10 

were  o f  VR Laser  and the i r  po l i t i ca l  connect ions and the i r  

connect ions or  the  invo lvement  o f  the  Gupta ’s  o r  Mr  Sa l im 

Essa or  Mr  Duduzan i  Zuma knowing tha t  has genera ted  

some cont roversy  does tha t  in f luence your  v iew tha t  

perhaps i t  shou ld  have been good f rom the  beg inn ing  to  

jus t  fo l low the  compet i t i ve  process Ms Malah le la  was 

suggest ing  or  i s  i t  someth ing  e lse?   

MR TEUBES:    No,  i t  i s  as  you desc r ibed.    

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t .   

MR TEUBES:    I f  I  may cou ld  I  add  someth ing  to  tha t?  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    P lease,  yes .   

MR TEUBES:    I  th ink  the  contex t  o f  dec i s ion  mak ing  on  

Hoefys ter  I  th ink  i t  i s  very  impor tan t  Cha i r.   When we  

rece ived th i s  con t rac t  in  2007 DLS  was a lmost  in  the  same 

cha l lenges tha t  Dene l  i s  today so  we had s ign i f i can t  
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bus iness cha l lenges,  s ign i f i can t  cash f low cha l lenges and  

then we got  to  face  the  cont rac t .   A t  tha t  s tage w i th  l im i ted  

resources,  l im i ted  capac i ty  in  the  company and we had to  

s ta r t  execut ing  an  ex t remely  complex  cont rac t .   So 

whatever  bus iness dec i s ion  we were  tak ing  was to  t ry  and 

reduce the  r i sk  on  the  programme.    

Now some o f  tha t  we were  successfu l  in  and some 

we were  no t  successfu l  in  reduc ing  tha t  r i sk .   So any o f  

these dec is ions fo r  example  ge t t ing  a  s ing le  source  to  do  

the  fabr ica t ion  obv ious ly  i t  must  be  done f rom a  f inanc ia l  10 

sound commerc ia l  perspect ive  bu t  a  lo t  o f  i t  was to  t ry  and  

dr ive  down r i sks  on  the  prog ram.   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    I  can  unders tand w i th  respect  the 

log ic  o f  hav ing  a  s ing le  source  supp l ie r  appo in ted  so  tha t  

you can reduce r i sk  and there  are  a l l  sor ts  o f  IP techn ica l  

superv i s ions issues so  tha t  you have one ent i t y  tha t  you 

know is  go ing  fo r  the  per iod  o f  the  cont rac t  be  commi t ted  

to  dea l ing  w i th  tha t  and you can  then superv i se .   What  I  

wou ld  l i ke  to  tu rn  to  now though is  the  quest ion  o f  be fore  

you appo in t  a  s ing le  supp l ie r  wou ld  i t  no t  be  appropr ia te  to  20 

le t  o ther  en t i t ies  compete  fo r  the  appo in tment  o f  a  s ing le  

source  supp l ie r…[ in tervene]   

MR TEUBES:    Yes,  bu t…[ in te rvene]  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And Ms -  sor ry  i f  I  m igh t  jus t  

comple te  the  quest ion  i f  I  may I  am so r ry  i t  i s  a  b i t  long 
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w inded.   But  Ms Malah le la  has a l ready g i ven ev idence tha t  

she heard  you  f rom a  perspect ive  Supp ly  Cha in  

Management  tha t  i t  was impor tan t  to  comp ly  w i th  

p rocesses tha t  d id  a l low a t  leas t  a  measure  o f  

compet iveness.      

MR TEUBES:    Ja ,  I  agree Cha i r  w i th  the  pr inc ip le  o f  th is  

bu t  I  a lso  a t  tha t  s tage the  argument  o f  we jus t  went  

th rough a  process to  appo in t  a  who le  supp l ie r.   The 

essence o f  what  we want  to  pu t  in  a  s ing le  source  is  

s im i la r  tha t  a l so  p layed a  ro le  in  i t  r igh t l y  o r  wrong ly  bu t  i t  10 

p layed a  ro le  i n  th is  dec is ion ,  bu t  I  do  agree in  h inds igh t  

tha t  i t  wou ld  have been a  pre fer red  pos i t ion  to  go  ou t  on  a  

tender,  ja .     

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Mr  Mlambo,  I  beg your  pardon Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Sor ry  Mr  Kennedy,  Mr  Teubes what  i s  i t  

tha t  you may not  do  i f  you  have appo in ted  as  the  s ing le  

source  supp l ie r  tha t  you may do  i f  you  have appo in ted  

them but  no t  as  a  s ing le  source  supp l ie r.   In  a  way I  am 

go ing  back to  the  quest ion  I  asked  you ear l ie r  on  are  there  

th ings tha t  you a re  prevented f rom do ing  jus t  because the  20 

appo in tment  tha t  you have made o f  A is  on  the  bas is  tha t  A 

is  appo in ted  as  a  s ing le  source  supp l ie r  as  opposed to  an  

ord inary  supp le r.       

MR TEUBES:    Ja ,  Cha i r  f rom the  PPPFA aga in  my  

unders tand ing ,  I  am not  an  exper t  on  i t ,  perspect ive  i f  you  
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do  no t  have a  s ing le  source  supp l ie r  there  is  cer ta in  

c r i te r ia  o r  cer ta in  p rocesses to  be  fo l lowed w i th  tenders  

and so  fo r  every  requ i rement  you have you need to  go  ou t  

on  an  open tender  and then tha t  tender  i s  awarded based 

on tha t  se lec t ion  cr i te r i a .   I f  you  have a  s ing le  source  

supp l ie r,  you can  go on a  c lose  tender  to  tha t  supp ler  and  

in  my mind tha t  i s  the  d i f fe rence be tween the  two.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay tha t  i s  impor tan t  because I  th ink  

when Ms Malah le la  gave ev idence th is  i ssue o f  the 

imp l ica t ions o f  be ing  appo in ted  as  a  s ing le  source  supp l ie r  10 

whethe r  i t  was d i f fe ren t  f rom what  i s  p rov ided  fo r  in  

p rocu rement  p rocesses and Nat iona l  Treasury  regu la t ions  

or  ins t ruc t ions where  you are  a l lowed as  an  organ o f  S ta te 

under  the  PPPFA not  to  go  on  open  tender.    

But  there  the  pos i t ion  as  I  unders tand i t  i s  pu t  as  i f  

Mr  Teubes is  the  so le  supp l ie r  o f  tha t  p roduct .   I f  there  i s  

nobody e l se  who can prov ide  tha t  k ind  o f  p roduct ,  then you 

do not  have to  go  to  open tender  t hen you can jus t  appo in t  

Mr  Teubes and your  jus t i f i ca t ion  is  he  is  the  on ly  one who  

prov ides th is  k ind  o f  p roduct .  20 

Now I  have a lways asked them the  quest ions I  mean 

the  peop le  who have tes t i f ied  about  there  and then  I  sa id  I  

do  no t  unders tand the  log ic  o f  tha t  p rov is ion  because i f  

you inv i te ,  i f  you  go the  open tender  rou te  Mr  Teubes is  

go ing  to  pu t  in  h is  b id ,  i f  he  is  the  on ly  supp l ie r  o f  th is  
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p roduct  there  is  go ing  to  be  nobody e lse  and then you end  

up w i th  h im anyway.   But  i f  you  are  m is taken in  th ink ing  

tha t  he  is  the  on ly  one the re  w i l l  be  somebody e lse  and  

tha t  somebody e lse  cou ld  jus t  happen to  be  cheaper  than  

h im.   So you lose  noth ing  by  go ing  the  open tender  rou te  

even i f  there  i s  on ly  Mr  Teubes who supp l ies  th is  k ind  o f  

p roduct  tha t  i s  in  re la t ion  to  Treasury.   

MR TEUBES:    Ja .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I s  your  unders tand ing  tha t  the  s ing le  

supp l ie r  a r rangement  a t  Dene l  f i t s  in to  tha t  a r rangement  10 

under  Nat iona l  Treasury  in  PFMA prov i s ions.   I s  i t  tha t  i t  i s  

the  same th ing?  

MR TEUBES:    I t  i s  the  same th ing .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   

MR TEUBES:    Ja ,  I  have to  say i f  you  look  a t  the 

procu rement  po l i c ies  over  the  many years  le t  us  say over  

the  las t  10  to  12  years  in  Dene l  th is  i ssue o f  s ing le  source  

and s ing le  source  approva l  has s ign i f i can t ly  changed 

a l though the  laws has not  changed I  th ink  the  app l i ca t ion  

w i th in  Dene l  was  d i f fe ren t  and jus t  an  in te res t ing  example  20 

rough ly  in  about  2008/2009 the  po l i cy  a t  tha t  s tage was 

tha t  the  s ing le  source  approva l  was done by  the  Cha i r  o f  

the  procu rement  commi t tee  wh ich  was re la t i ve  –  wh ich  was  

equ iva len t  to  Ms Malah le la  pos i t ion .   So she cou ld  approve  

i t  in  the  Dene l ’s  po l i c ies .   Over  years  I  th ink  ou r  a l ignment  
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be tween po l i cy  and law became c loser.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  Mr  Kennedy.        

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you  Cha i r.   Now Mr  Teubes 

can you tu rn  to  page 44 p lease a t  the  foo t  o f  page 44 your  

parag raph 62.29 re fers  to  the  procurement  po l i cy  o f  Dene l  

a t  Head Off i ce  wh ich  came in to  e f fec t  on  the  19 t h  o f  

November  2014  you have he lp fu l l y  a t tached to  

…[ in tervene]  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sor ry  d id  you say 34?    

ADV KENNEDY SC:    44 .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    44 ,  okay.   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    You have re fe r red  us  to  the 

procu rement  po l i cy  as  i t  ex is ted ,  in  2014 you have  

a t tached a  copy o f  tha t  po l i cy.   Mr  Mlambo f rom – who was  

then the  Supp ly  Cha in  Group Execut ive  a t  Head Of f i ce  has 

a l ready g iven ev idence in  re la t ion  to  the  same po l i cy.   Now 

you express an  op in ion  in  th is  paragraph,  the 

d isappo in tment  o f  VR Laser  as  the  s ing le  source  supp l ie r  

in  fac t  cont ravened the  procu rement  po l i cy.   You say tha t  

the  award  o f  the  cont rac t  was in  conf l i c t  w i th  the 20 

procurement  po l i cy  ay  Dene l  (SOC) L td .    Were  you aware  

o f  tha t  conf l i c t  a t  the  t ime you were  par t  o f  the  process 

wh ich  recommended VR Laser ’s  appo in tment?  

MR TEUBES:    Mr  Cha i r  I  was not  aware  o f  the  con f l i c t  up 

to  the  po in t  where  we got  to  th is  po in t  where  i t  was  ra ised.   
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So  dur ing  the  process o f  the  eva lua t ion  and dec is ion  make  

on the  MOI  I  was  not  aware  o f  i t  bu t  up  to  the  po in t  where  

we had th is  EXCO meet ing  where  i t  was ra ised I  became 

aware  o f  i t .     

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Notw i ths tand ing  tha t  the  

recommendat ion  was then made to  appo in t  VR Laser  

desp i te  the  fac t  tha t  i f  you  were  aware  o f  a  conf l i c t ,  i s  tha t  

what  you ’ re  say ing?  

MR TEUBES:    That  i s  co r rec t ,  yes .   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    On what  bas i s  cou ld  you then make a  10 

recommendat ion  tha t  you knew was in  conf l i c t  w i th  the 

Groups procurement  po l i cy.    

MR TEUBES:    In  the  EXCO d iscuss ions tha t  we had the  

issue was tha t  the  procurement  po l i cy  there  we fe l t  tha t  the 

h ighest  au thor i t y  wh ich  was a  group CEO cou ld  approve  

dev ia t ions f rom i t  and we be l ieve  tha t  the  approva l  to  en te r  

in to  an  MOA was  an approva l  fo r  a  dev ia t ion  and tha t  was 

the  bas i s .   So i t  was not  a  bas i s  o f  the  one over r i d ing  the 

o the r,  the  d iscuss ion  in  the  EXCO was tha t  th is  was an 

approva l  fo r  a  dev ia t ion .   I  know i t  i s  worded d i f fe ren t ly  in  20 

the  m inutes  bu t  tha t  was the  essence o f  the  d iscuss ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  I  am jus t  wonder ing  why the  Group  

CEO cou ld  be  sa id  to  have approved a  dev ia t ion  in  

c i rcumstances where  there  was no request  fo r  dev ia t ion  

p laced before  h im.    
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MR TEUBES:    I  take  your  po in t  Cha i r,  yes .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  okay Mr  Kennedy.   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you  Mr  Teubes i f  I  can  re fer  

you to  page 46,  okay le t  us  s ta r t  i f  we may a t  45  in  62 .33  

you re fer red  to  the  commi t tee  tak ing  a  dec is ion  tha t  the  

memorandum of  agreement  tha t  was in  p lace  w i th  VR Laser  

took precedence  over  the  p rocu rement  po l i cy.   Now what  

agreement  a re  you re fer r ing  to  there?  Was tha t  the  hu l l s  

cont rac t  agreement  o r  what?        

MR TEUBES:    No,  Cha i r  th is  was the  MOA.   10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Th is  i s  the  MOA tha t  had  a l ready  

been conc luded.   

MR TEUBES:    That  i s  co r rec t .   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t  and I  jus t  want  to  p i ck  up  w i th  

the  po in t  tha t  you made ear l ie r  because you sa id  as  I  

unders tood i t  tha t  par t  o f  your  -  the  reasons tha t  

persuaded you to  g ive  the  s ing le  source  cont rac t  to  VR 

Laser  i f  I  unders tood you cor rec t l y  i s  tha t  these add i t iona l  

components  were  add i t iona l  tha t  wou ld  be  added onto  the  

hu l l s .   The hu l l s  were  to  be  manu fac tured by  VR Laser  in  20 

te rms o f  the  f i rs t  cont rac t  tha t  has a l ready been awarded 

to  i t  so  i t  made sense tha t  you wou ld  no t  have d i f fe ren t  

supp l ie rs  supp ly ing  d i f fe ren t  e lements  i t  wou ld  make sense  

to  have the  same one fo r  bo th .   I s  tha t  a  fa i r  

unders tand ing?      
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MR TEUBES:    No,  tha t  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Wou ld  you accept  though th is  

p ropos i t ion  tha t  the  f i rs t  cont rac t  en t i t led  them on ly  to  

manufac ture  hu l l s  and tha t  o f  course  we know was the  

sub jec t  o f  a  fa i r l y  compet i t i ve  process in  tha t  the  RFO 

process was fo l lowed where  the re  were  a t  leas t  th ree  

in te res ted  pa r t ies  tha t  were  o f fe red  tha t  oppor tun i ty  to  

compete .   VR Laser,  LMT and DCD not  so?       

MR TEUBES:    That  i s  co r rec t  Cha i r.   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    D id  the  ob jec t i ve  and the  lega l  10 

prov is ions tha t  the  Cha i r  has re fer red  to  o f  p rocurement  

regu la t ions and so  fo r th  d id  tha t  no t  then requ i re  tha t  the  

second p rocess in  fac t  go  ou t  compet i t i ve ly.    

In  o ther  words,  these were  no t  i tems tha t  you cou ld  

purchase under  the  f i rs t  agreement  because the  f i rs t  

agreement  jus t  had a  nar row scope.  

MR TEUBES:    Ja .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Th i s  was in  add i t ion  to  tha t  and so  

a l though f rom a  bus iness sense i t  m igh t  make sense f rom a  

bus iness po in t  o f  v iew i t  m igh t  make sense to  say  we l l  i f  20 

we a l ready appo in ted  them,  VR Laser,  in  the  f i rs t  cont rac t  

why not  appo in t  them aga in  bu t  was i t  no t  in  fac t  a  

requ i rement  o f  the  p rocurement  po l i cy  tha t  th is  to  be  

compet i t i ve  jus t  l ike  the  f i rs t  p rocess had been.        

MR TEUBES:    Cha i r  I  th ink  i t  i s  a  va l id  a rgument  f rom our  
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perspect ive  i s  tha t  we have mot iva ted  the  MOU to  the  

h ighest  au thor i t y  w i th in  Dene l  and tha t  was approved and I  

know the re  was ob jec t ions f rom Mr  Mlambo on i t ,  I  know 

there  was consu l ta t ions  bu t  a t  the  end o f  the  day i t  ended  

up w i th  the  top  execut ives  in  Dene l  approv ing  th is  MOA.   

So f rom tha t  perspect ive  my persona l  v iew was a l l  o f  th is  

was cons idered and i t  was a  go  ahead to  do  i t ,  bu t  do  I  

today unders tand tha t  f rom a  procu rement  po l i cy  

regu la t ions pe rspect ive  i t  cou ld  have been done d i f fe ren t ly  

I  agree.       10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Do you a lso  agree tha t  the  top  

execut ive  however  sen ior  whethe r  i t  be  the  Group  CEO o r  

the  Group COO or  the  Board  i t se l f  they  a re  a lso  bound 

lega l l y  by  what  i s  la id  down by pa r l iament  in  the  PFMA the  

Pub l ic  F inance Management  Act ,  was is  la id  down in  

Treasury  regu la t ions under  the  PFMA and  a lso  under  the  

procu rement  po l i cy  o f  Dene l  i t se l f?   

MR TEUBES:    I  fu l l y  ag ree.   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes,  and was  i t  –  I  am not  suggest ing  

tha t  one shou ld  no t  look  a t  poss ib le  b lame tha t  shou ld  be  20 

a t tached to  the  sen io r  execut ives  a t  g roup leve l  bu t  was i t  

no t  pa r t  o f  your  du ty,  you and your  co l leagues dut ies  w i th in  

DLS to  ensure  tha t  i f  a  recommendat ion  was go ing  up to  

Head Off i ce  fo r  approva l  by  the  Group CEO tha t  you  shou ld  

no t  be  propos ing  or  recommending a  dec is ion  wh ich  m ight  
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v io la te  the  PFMA or  the  Treasury  regu la t ions or  the  

procu rement  po l i cy  o f  Dene l .        

MR TEUBES:    Wi th in  the  contex t  o f  Dene l  i s  tha t  the  

Dene l  p rocurement  po l i cy  i s  der ived f rom a l l  the  laws and  

the  regu la t ions,  tha t  i s  done by  Dene l  Corpora te .   So on a  

d iv is ion  leve l  we  ac t  acco rd ing  to  the  po l i cy  so  we  do not  

have a  d i rec t  re la t ionsh ip  w i th  the  PFMA.   So the  po l i cy  in  

our  wor ld  i s  a  t rans la t ion  o f  the  PFMA and the  app l i ca t ion  

in  our  wor ld .    

So to  answer  you  Cha i r  i s  tha t  there  was no spec i f i c  10 

thoughts ,  spec i f i c  compar isons done to  recommendat ions 

to  the  PFMA.  the  compar isons was done to  the  po l i cy.      

CHAIRPERSON:    Mr  Kennedy ’s  quest ion  has brought  me 

back to  an  answer  you gave ear l ie r  on  and I  jus t  want  us  to  

in te r rogate  tha t .   You sa id  tha t  because th is  agreement  had  

been taken to  the  Group CEO and he had approved tha t  

somehow meant  fo r  you tha t  i t  was  f ine .  

MR TEUBES:    Hmm.     

CHAIRPERSON:    I s  there  no t  a  p rob lem wi th  tha t  

approach in  c i rcumstances where  i t  comes f rom somebody  20 

who wou ld  have made a  recommendat ion  pr io r  to  tha t  i ssue 

coming to  the  Group CEO o r  because you do not  want  a  

s i tua t ion  where  the  Group CEO says I  approved th is  

because eve ryone be low me recommended tha t  I  approve i t  

and I  re l ied  on  the i r  recommendat ions and those under  the  
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Group CEO say we ac tua l l y  though t  s ince  he approved i t ,  i t  

shou ld  be  f ine .   Do you unders tand  my concerns?         

MR TEUBES:    I  do  Cha i r.   

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  so  tha t  to  the  ex ten t  tha t  one may 

be dea l ing  w i th  somebody who made a  recommendat ion  a t  

a  leve l  be fore  the  mat te r  went  to  the  Group CEO each one 

o f  those peop le  who made a  recommendat ion  ough t  to  be  

ab le  de fend i f  they  de fend the i r  approva l  o r  the i r  

recommendat ion  on  i t s  mer i t s  and not  because la te r  on  

somebody sen ior  a lso  approved.   Do you accept  tha t?       10 

MR TEUBES:    I  do ,  I  do  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.   

MR TEUBES:    I  th ink  i f  I  may add Cha i r  a t  a  po in t  where  

th is  was  f ina l l y  approved I  th ink  Mr  Denn is  Mlambo’s  

concerns was known.   

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.    

MR TEUBES:    So  i t  was not  a  consensus pos i t ion  w i th in  

the  b igger  Dene l  on  th is .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.     

MR TEUBES:    So  I  wou ld  pu t  i t  to  say  I  do  no t  th ink  the  20 

f ina l  approva l  cou ld  have been based on a  consensus tha t  

there  was consensus,  i t  was known tha t  there  was a  debate  

on  th is .    

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  o f  course  tha t  answer  wou ld  be  f ine  

i f  you  say look I  s tand by  the  recommendat ion  tha t  I  made.   
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I  th ink  i t  was a  good dec is ion  to  recommend but  hav ing  

sa id  tha t  I  am say ing  the  Group CEO was aware  o f  a  

d i f fe ren t  v iew or  d i f fe ren t  v iews f rom Mr  Mlambo.   He was 

a lso  supposed to  take  those in to  account  and dec ide .   He  

dec ided in  pa r t i cu la r  way and I  take  i t  tha t  he  we ighed up 

the  d i f fe ren t  v iews but  s t i l l  be  ab le  to  say as  fa r  as  my  

recommendat ion  is  concerned tha t  I  s tand by  i t  I  can  

defend i t  th is  i s  how I  de fend i t  o r  obv ious ly  you might  say  

look a t  tha t  t ime I  thought  i t  was  jus t i f ied  bu t  now when I  

have had a  chance to  look  a t  the  fac ts ,  look  a t  the  10 

s i tua t ion  or  w i th  the  benef i t  o f  h inds igh t  I  am not  ab le  to  

de fend i t  bu t  a t  tha t  t ime th is  i s  how I  saw i t .   Okay.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you Cha i r.   I f  I  may jus t  p i ck  

up  jus t  to  comple te  th is  l ine  o f  quest ion ing  pursuant  to  the  

Cha i rs  quest ions .   Here  you had Mr  Mlambo a t  g roup  

execut ive  leve l  fo r  Supp ly  Cha in  be ing  aga ins t  the  idea,  

cor rec t?  

MR TEUBES:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And he was the  exper t ,  tha t  was h i s  

f ie ld ,  you a re  no t  an  exper t  in  Supp ly  Cha in  Management ,  20 

am I  r igh t?   

MR TEUBES:    That  i s  co r rec t  Cha i r.   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Your  exper t i se  lays  e lsewhere  in  

eng ineer ing  and a lso  in  bus iness leadersh ip  e tce te ra .   But  

Mr  Mlambo’s  concerns appear  to  be  s im i la r  to  what  you r  



30 OCTOBER 2020 – DAY 295 
 

Page 84 of 115 
 

own D iv i s iona l  Supp ly  Cha in  Head,  Ms Malah le la ,  was 

warn ing  you about  as  we l l .   In  fac t ,  the  p rocess  s ta r ted  

where  she had sa id  I  be l ieve  we shou ld  go  out  to  tender  a l l  

RFQ’s  and she was ove r ru led  w i th in  the  d iv i s ion ,  co r rec t?      

MR TEUBES:    That  i s  co r rec t  Cha i r.   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And then when the  process was then  

pursued where  the  RFO was issued and -  I  am sor ry  where  

the  RFO was no t  i ssued,  where  ins tead i t  was dec ided  

s imp ly  to  award  i t  to  VR Laser  she s t i l l  ra ised concerns d id  

she not  about  p rocurement  i r regu la r i t ies .       10 

MR TEUBES:    I  cannot  -  I  th ink  in  p r inc ip le  you are  

cor rec t  Cha i r  bu t  I  cannot  remember  spec i f i c  concerns.   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Okay.  

MR TEUBES:    Ja .   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Can I  take  you to  831 she of  course 

has given her own evidence but  I  respect  your  – your  

evidence now that  you cannot recal l  speci f ic concerns.   But  

Ms Malahlela gave evidence that  was instructed to  prepare 

the memorandum we f ind at  page 831 which was to  make the 

recommendat ion in relat ion to  the DLS contract  as a sole 20 

suppl ier contract  to VR Laser.   And she says – are you 

fami l iar wi th th is document?  Wel l  you have actual ly at tached 

i t  as an annexure but  were you fami l iar wi th i t  at  the t ime? 

MR TEUBES:   I  am yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   D id you give that  instruct ion to  her to 



30 OCTOBER 2020 – DAY 295 
 

Page 85 of 115 
 

issue this – or prepare this memorandum? 

MR TEUBES:   I  – can I  go back to what the Chair  said 

ear l ier.   I  do not  th ink i t  was an inst ruct ion Chai r.   I  th ink i t  

was a – we had a debate I  do not  th ink she was forced to  

wri te th is memorandum.  In my mind is she wrote this  

memorandum af ter we had a debate and there was al ignment 

on the idea.   So I  do not  th ink she was forced and knowing 

her  is that  she wi l l  not  do anything against  her wi l l .   So – but  

I  cannot – I  do not  agree wi th the word force.   But  – um – ja.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Can I  take you…  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   What d id … 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Sorry Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  am sorry.   Could i t  be that  she was 

expected to do i t  on the basis that  i t  was the major i ty v iew 

even i f  she did not  agree wi th i t?  Is there room for – would 

there have been room for her  to do i t  under those 

ci rcumstances not  because she is  forced in  the normal  sense 

but  on the basis that  the major i ty v iew is di fferent  f rom hers? 

MR TEUBES:   Yes Chair  i t  is possible.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  20 

MR TEUBES:   Just  quick context  here.   At  th is stage she 

was an EXCO member.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR TEUBES:   So she was part  o f  th is EXCO meet ing that  

had this discussion.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR TEUBES:   I  would think i f  she had such strong 

reservat ions that  i t  would have been minuted in the EXCO 

meet ing which i t  was not .   And again h indsight  is the minutes 

a perfect  ref lect ion of  – of  the meet ing I  do not  know.  But  I  

would say i f  an argument is placed that  she was forced to do 

that  I  d id – does – i t  is not  ref lected in the minutes.   In the 

minutes i t  says the EXCO took the fol lowing decision and 

that  minutes was accepted as a t rue ref lect ion of  that  

meet ing.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  Yes.   I  th ink Mr Kennedy might  or  

might  not  take that  further.   I  seem to have the impression 

that  her conduct  a f ter  in terms of  emai ls and correspondence 

seems to ref lect  that  her view was st i l l  d i fferent  f rom that  of  

EXCO.  But  Mr Kennedy might  or might  not  be able to take 

that  further.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.   May I  just  raise this wi th the 

wi tness i f  I  may? 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   On this very page we at  831 Ms 20 

Malahlela when she was taken to this in her ev idence the 

other day di rected the Chai r ’s at tent ion to two points.   In the 

f i rst  paragraph she referred to the Group Supply Chain 

Execut ive gave an instruct ion that  DLS must f i rst  explore 

how DVS wi l l  be used in the project  on condi t ion they – and 
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then – so that  relates to DVS.  But  – but  then she said to the 

Chair  that  she had del iberately put  in a reference above her  

signature on the next  page 832.  

“ I  request  permission to implement the EXCO 

decision in th is regard. ”  

And i t  was her  diplomat ic way of  recording that  – or  hint ing 

that  i t  was EXCO that  was making the decis ion.   I  take your  

point  that  she was part  of  EXCO but  that  she was not  happy 

wi th the decision.   She did not  agree wi th i t .   So in other 

words she was not  saying,  I  Ms Malahlela am in fact  asking 10 

or recommending that  you give approval  Mr Mlambo.  Any 

comment on that  or do you stand by your ear l ier evidence? 

MR TEUBES:   Mr Chai r  I  stand by my point .   Obviously I  

have got  a lot  of  respect  for Ms Malahlela and I  do not  want  

to debate her feedback to you.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

MR TEUBES:   But  I  th ink as an EXCO i f  an EXCO has taken 

a decision you ei ther abide by that  decision or you formal ly 

state your object ion and i t  must  be minuted.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   May I  now take you to your latest  

aff idavi t  that  has been admit ted and I  take you please to  

page 1078.  This is Exhibi t  W17.2 Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   That  is the one that  you prepared 
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yesterday.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Thank you.    

ADV KENNEDY SC:   In fact  when I  refer to aff idavi t  in fact  

wi l l  be an aff idavi t  once you sign i t  before a Commissioner of  

Oaths.  

MR TEUBES:   Yes.   Hundred percent  thank you Mr Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I f  I  can be forgiven for that  terminology 

that  I  use i t  is just  s imply for convenience.   Now why did you 

prepare this aff idavi t?  Was this at  our request  or the 

invest igators request? 10 

MR TEUBES:   No i t  was my own in i t iat ive Mr Chai r.   In the 

previous supplementary a quest ion was asked by the 

invest igators who in i t iated this MOU process and I  only made 

a single l ine answer wi thout  giv ing context  to i t .   Because I  

bel ieved I  addressed i t  in var ious areas wi thin my statement.   

So I  have only stated there i t  was Mr Stephan Burger.    

But  I  fe l t  af ter al l  the – I  was l istening obviously to  

some of  the wi tnesses here and I  fe l t  that  maybe my 

di fferent   areas that  I  have touched on this i f  I  can give a 

chronological  order of  those events i t  wi l l  assist  the 20 

commission.   So this is not  new informat ion i t  is just  

repacking the chronological  order of  events.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Wel l  thank you for  your concern to be 

comprehensive and detai led to give the Chair  the ful l  facts 

and the documents.   May I  just  ask speci f ical ly in relat ion to 
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the issue we have just  been debat ing?  At  page 1081 

paragraph 7.   In fact  sorry perhaps just  to g ive i t  the context .   

The discussion f rom 1079 deals wi th the mot ivat ion of  Mart in  

Drevin for a single source.   Is  that  the same s ingle source 

contract  that  he have been discussing up to now? 

MR TEUBES:   That  is correct  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And does the same apply to the f i rst  

draf t  Group CEO Supply Chain submission paragraph 3? 

MR TEUBES:   That  is correct  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And then the MOU from Denise 10 

Govender.  

MR TEUBES:   That  is correct  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And the second draf t  page – at  

paragraph 5 on page 1081.  

MR TEUBES:   That  is correct  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And does the same apply to 6 – 

paragraph 6? 

MR TEUBES:   That  is correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.   I  do not  bel ieve unless you want 

to highl ight  anyth ing of  part icular s igni f icance for the Chair ’s 20 

at tent ion I  do not  be l ieve that  i t  is  necessary for us in your 

oral  evidence to go through that .   But  the evidence wi l l  be 

before the Chai r  for considerat ion.   What I  would l ike to take 

up wi th you though Mr Teubes is your paragraph 78 at  the 

foot  of  page 1081 and that  is Cel ia  Malahlela’s  concern.   You 
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refer to a reply f rom Cel ia in context  i t  is a reply to a second 

draf t  submission.  Was that  the one that  you had amended? 

MR TEUBES:   That  is correct  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.   And the amendment was for VR 

Laser to be awarded the contract  as a single source suppl ier 

wi thout  – wi thout  going through a compet i t ive process.  

MR TEUBES:   That  is correct  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Right .   Now to look at  her – how you 

have art iculated her concern as she conveyed i t  to  you 711 

says:  10 

“Cel ia repl ied 10:31 on the 23 March raising 

her concerns wi th  regard to – is that  WRT – 

wi th regard to?”  

MR TEUBES:   That  is correct  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    

“Change submission.   She suggested that  we 

have a meet ing to discuss.   I  cannot recal l  i f  

we had the meet ing or what the outcome of  

the meet ing was given that  i t  was af ter the 

EXCO meet ing. ”  20 

Is that  st i l l  your posi t ion you cannot  recal l  the [00:09:29]”  

MR TEUBES:   That  is correct  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Ms Malahlela has given evidence about 

her discussions wi th you and Mr Burger where she raised 

repeatedly her concerns and she has expressed to the Chai r 



30 OCTOBER 2020 – DAY 295 
 

Page 91 of 115 
 

her concern that  she real ly was not  taken suff ic ient ly 

ser iously in  the advice she was giving as the Supply Chain 

Expert  that  th is could not  be done.  Any comment on that? 

MR TEUBES:   I  have l istened to Ms Malahlela’s evidence 

and that  speci f ic concern that  she ra ised that  she addressed 

in a let ter to Mr Burger was only done much later than this 

speci f ic incident .   So that  – there is  not  a direct  l ink between 

this meet ing and that  let ter that  she has wri t ten to Mr Burger.   

I t  is only – i t  was a couple of  months later.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Mr Kennedy the amendment that  you and 10 

Mr Teubes were talk ing about in regard to paragraph 7.1.1.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Is  that  the amendment that  Ms Malahle la 

talked about where she said she had prepared a submission 

going in a certain  direct ion but  she discovered later that  that  

submission had been amended without  her knowledge as I  

understood the posi t ion? 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   To say someth ing that  was qui te the 

opposi te.   Is that… 20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   That  is one would think… 

CHAIRPERSON:   That  is what we are talk ing about.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   The is one of  the things that  she 

test i f ied about.   Perhaps I  need to take you Chair  just  to  

cover that  adequately.    
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CHAIRPERSON:   Yes because i t  is important .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I  may have sk ipped – skimmed through 

something in the aff idavi t  of  Mr Teubes.   Mr Teubes you refer  

in your  aff idavi t  to emai l  correspondence relat ing to the 

draf ts of  the submission whereas I  recal l  you used the term I  

am – I  have updated the submission.  

MR TEUBES:   Ja.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   To adopt a di fferent  angle.  

MR TEUBES:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   May I  just  f ind that  reference.   I  am 10 

sorry I  do not  have i t  at  my f ingert ips Chair  but  can I  just  be 

given a moment? 

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja that  is f ine.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   May I  ask whi le my learned col leagues 

are t ry ing to f ind the reference for us – may I  ask was there 

interact ion between Ms Malahlela and Mr Burger  at  th is 

stage in relat ion to the preparat ion of  the documents and the 

procedure being fol lowed or did she do everything through 

you? 

MR TEUBES:   I  do not  know.  I  th ink the – Chair  that  the 20 

major i ty discussions was probably wi th me al though as what  

dur ing happened during the hul l  contract  there was also 

regular interact ions between Ms Malahlela and Mr Burger.   

So I  do not  know.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Did – in one of  your aff idavi ts you have 
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referred to Mr Burger taking the in i t iat ive in re lat ion to the 

approach for s ing le source suppl iers,  is that  correct? 

MR TEUBES:   That  is correct  Mr Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I  would l ike you please to expand on 

that .   In what way did that  mani fest  i tsel f?  

MR TEUBES:   I f  I  can refer to my latest  supplementary 

statement that  I  sent  through last  night? 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.  

MR TEUBES:   And i f  I  take you to point  2 there on page 

1079.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.  

MR TEUBES:   There under the Mot ivat ion for Mr Drevin.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.  

MR TEUBES:   Fi rst  paragraph.  

“ In the week of  4 to 5 March I  cannot  

remember the exact  date Mr Burger had a 

discussion wi th me regarding the r isk on the 

Hoefyster Program and speci f ical ly  the supply 

of  fabr icated components and the fact  that  

most  other companies l ike Patr ia  vert ical ly  20 

integrated to include this  capaci ty in the 

company.   He suggest  that  for DLS to mit igate 

this r isk a single source agreement must  be 

establ ished wi th  the suppl ier  that  th is  

capaci ty – for th is as th is capaci ty and 
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capabi l i ty.   I  agreed with his reasoning in  

terms of  the inher i t  r isk and then I  had a 

discussion wi th Mart in Drevin to draw up that  

mot ivat ion.”  

But  I  th ink i t  key – I  refer to there on the 216 on the next  

page.  

“This mot ivat ion is a technical  r isk mot ivat ion 

where i t  was technical  r isk mit igat ion 

or ientated and not  suppl ier speci f ic. ”  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   A l r ight  and then i f  I  can refer you on 10 

the same page the top of  page 1079.  There is a heading the 

Individual  wi thin DLS who ini t iated the MOA. 

MR TEUBES:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Just  read out  that  next  paragraph.  

MR TEUBES:   That  -  Mr Chai r  that  was the quest ion f rom the 

invest igators which I  reacted to in my previous 

supplementary and my answer on that  is:  

“ I t  is my understanding that  i t  was Mr 

Stephan Burger in his capaci ty as DLS – the 

then DLS CEO who ini t iated the process of  20 

there to be a single source suppl ier of  

Hoefyster turret  armour steel  fabr icat ion and 

components. ”  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you.   I  am referred Chai r  thank 

you apologise for  the delay.   My at tent ion is  drawn to page 
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679.   You do refer  to i t  in your aff idavi t  and I  just  cannot f ind 

that  at  the moment but  yes thank you.   679 is a ser ies of  two 

emai ls the one at  the top is f rom yoursel f  to Ms Malahlela,  is  

that  r ight? 

MR TEUBES:   That  is correct  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And then that  was a response to hers at  

the foot  of  the page, is that  r ight? 

MR TEUBES:   That  is correct  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And further down the page of  the March 

2015 and she said:  10 

“Hi  Reenen, please f ind the at tached 

document as requested. ”  

Now she gave evidence the other day before the Chai r  that  

she had submit ted – she had prepared a submission to deal  

wi th the proposed t ransact ion.   She deal t  wi th i t  in a 

part icular way but  you then wrote back to her to say as you 

do in the top emai l .  

“ I  have changed the angle that  we asked for  

approval  f rom Riaz please see at tached 

submission – any inputs?”  20 

Now what informed that? 

MR TEUBES:   That  was informed by a – i f  you just  look 

again at  my – the statement of  last  night  is that  we had a – 

we had the f i rst  draf t  as per the emai l  of  the 12 March then 

post  that  I  received an emai l  f rom Ms Denise Govender our  
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legal  execut ive in  Denel  at taching a MOU for th is work and 

speci fy ing VR Laser.   I  had then on her  reference – she 

referred me to Stephan and we had a discussion and the 

debate on that  and i t  was post  th is debate that  I  have 

updated that  submission.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Now can I  take you back please to page 

832 which is the one we looked at  ear l ier where she refers to  

a request  for permission to implement the EXCO decision in 

which she had been a minori ty.   And you ment ioned ear l ier 

that  Mr Mlambo had taken a di fferent  v iew.  We know what  10 

his posi t ion is at  Group level .   He is basical ly the top wi th in  

the group.  

MR TEUBES:   Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   He was the absolute ul t imate author i ty  

wi thin the group re lat ing to Supply Chain and procurement,  

correct? 

MR TEUBES:   That  is correct  ja.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And were you aware that  his approval  

was requi red for th is type of  t ransact ion? 

MR TEUBES:   I  do not  agree wi th h is approval  in  the – i f  you 20 

look at  the pol icy i t  says he needs to be consul ted.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes he gave evidence about a 

part icular reason why he should have been consul ted.  

MR TEUBES:   Ja.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   But  leave i t  at  that  the Chair  wi l l  
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assess the evidence obviously in  due course.   But  I  am 

interested in the handwri t ten port ion that  Mr Mlambo has 

said he inserted.   You see the – you see the typed port ion 

above the handwr i t ten port ion says Approval .   The intent ion 

was to get  him to sign to give his approval .  

MR TEUBES:   Ja.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And he did not  s ign that  instead he 

wrote in the reason why he was not  approving.  He said:    

“NB – DVS and LMT must submit  proof  that  

they cannot meet the requirements pr ior to  10 

the cont ract  being awarded to VR Laser.”  

Now you have a lready deal t  wi th LMT and i ts l imi ted capaci ty  

and i ts l imi ted t rack record as wel l  as problems that  were 

being experienced with that .   I  do not  th ink we need to 

t raverse that  again.   But  just  deal  br ief ly i f  you would wi th 

DVS.  He is suggest ing that  DVS as an in-house divis ion of  

Denel  should provide proof  that  i t  cannot  do this type of  

product ion before he would be happy.  

MR TEUBES:   Ja.   I f  I  just  – Chair  before I  answer that  i f  I  

can just  give context  between th is let ter vis a v is  the 20 

approval  process for the MOU?  This let ter that  on which 

Denis Mlambo made a comment is about  six months af ter the 

MOU process.    

So this  speci f ic  le t ter  does not  ref lect  on the approval  

process or an input  to  the approval  process of  MOU i t  



30 OCTOBER 2020 – DAY 295 
 

Page 98 of 115 
 

ref lects to a posi t ion where we wanted to go out  or there was 

a discussion to go out  on ei ther a tender or not  a tender on 

this – the T5 program which is another product  and the 

EXCO discussed that  and that  is where the whole decision 

that  you referred to ear l ier appear in terms of  pol icy versus 

approval  levels came into debate.    

So the decision that  we requested here f rom Mlambo 

was speci f ica l ly on a T5 product  to ei ther go out  on tender or  

in th is case fol low the MOU process.   So that  was the 

reference in th is let ter.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.   But  Mr Mlambo was concerned 

with a number of  breaches of  pol icy.   In fact  the one he is 

ident i fy ing here speci f ical ly re lates to the in-house 

capabi l i ty.   In fact  that  as I  recal l  was his ev idence that  that  

requi red his actual  approval  before work that  could 

potent ia l ly be bond in-house with  outsourced to somebody 

the group.  

MR TEUBES:   That  is  correct .   I f  there was in-house 

capabi l i ty then that  was subject  to approval .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.   So were you aware at  the t ime 20 

that  he had issued this note f i rst ly  showing that  he did not  

approve i t  and secondly giv ing his reason then.   He had 

other reasons that  he raised in his evidence later.  

MR TEUBES:   Ja.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   But  th is speci f ic one were you aware 
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that  he – this was the outcome of  the process in which his  

approval  had been sought but  refused? 

MR TEUBES:   Yes I  was aware of  i t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And did that  not  r ing some alarm bel ls 

to you as a senior member of  the DLS management  as the 

COO at  the t ime?  That  we cannot do this wi thout  sat isfy ing 

Mr Mlambo in terms of  his author i ty and in terms of  the 

prescr ipts of  Denel  pol icy for procurement  that  we must  

sat isfy h im that  both DVS and LMT do not  have the capaci ty? 

MR TEUBES:   I  agree wi th the pr inciple that  my thoughts at 10 

that  stage was I  got  th is let ter and i t  was approved by the 

Group CEO.  And I  would have – and my understanding was 

that  he has taken in Mr Mlambo’s concerns and then he 

approved i t .    

So I  agree wi th you again in hindsight  that  we should 

have considered i t  d i fferent ly but  a t  that  stage we accepted 

the Group CEO approval  of  th is posi t ion.  

CHAIRPERSON:   You know one of  the matters Mr Teubes 

that  I  look at  f rom t ime to t ime when I  hear evidence of  how 

certain th ings happened in var ious SOE’s dur ing these years 20 

that  we are talk ing about in the context  of  state capture and 

corrupt ion.   Is where – where i t  is c lear that  the wrong th ing 

was done and not  the r ight  th ing.    

I  t ry to look at  why is i t  that  maybe so many people 

who saw this or read the documentat ion who had what was 
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being done or what they were being asked to agree to or  

approve.   Why is i t  that  not  enough people said but  there is  

something wrong with this?  You see.   

So when then one looks at  – at  th is issue here and 

one hears the argument f rom Mr Mlambo that  i t  d id not  make 

sense to him to – for Denel  to want to so to speak outsource 

business when they have got  internal  or Denel  ent i t ies that  

have got  the capabi l i t ies can do the job.   So – and then you 

see the Group CEO having said approved there.    

Wel l  when Mr Mlambo was giving evidence I  said was 10 

this approved?  Meaning he approved your comments or was 

he giving the approval  that  you were not  giv ing?  He said no.  

I  th ink he said he – the Group CEO was giving the approval  

that  he was not  giv ing.   He was overr id ing i t .   So I  ask 

mysel f  the quest ion but   

1.  What did this Group CEO say about the arguments – 

the meri ts of  the arguments raised by Mr Mlambo?  

What did the other  people other than the Group CEO 

say about the mer i ts of  the arguments by Mr Mlambo? 

Because one would expect  that  i f  there is  no sound 20 

answer to his  arguments other people who did not  th ink 

anybody had given a proper explanat ion should say,  but  

hang on we do not  understand why you are going ahead 

because we think Mr Mlambo whose point  is val id you know.   

And then maybe i f  there are enough people who say that  
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maybe the Group CEO is going to th ink twice before he 

approves.  But  i f  they al l  adopt  the at t i tude,  look let  us leave 

i t  to th is Group CEO i f  he approves he approves.  

MR TEUBES:   Ja.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Then wrong things happen.  You 

understand where my concern is? 

MR TEUBES:   Fu l ly – ful ly understood Chai r.   I  just  have to 

point  out  that  between me and Ms Malahlela we d id have 

meet ings wi th Mr Denis Mlambo on this issue 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  10 

MR TEUBES:   And we had discussions wi th h im.  So i t  was 

not  purely a si tuat ion submit  th is mot ivat ion and get  ei ther a 

approval  or reject ion back f rom corporate.   So we did engage 

with him. There is emai l  communicat ion post  meet ings we 

had with him on this.   But  I  – i t  – that  does not  disregard 

your posi t ion and your arguments on i t  I  just  wanted to add 

that  i t  was not  purely a bl ind process.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR TEUBES:   There was interact ion.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Yes.   But  as you s i t  there and you 20 

look at  his arguments what is your react ion as to what 

should have happened about his arguments?  Do you regard 

them as sound and as there not  having anybody who came 

up wi th sounder,  bet ter,  st ronger arguments? 

MR TEUBES:   Chair  as per the emai l  communicat ion post  
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our meet ings I  d i ffered wi th him with his arguments.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR TEUBES:   I  d id not  agree wi th his percept ion of  the 

capabi l i t ies in the di fferent  companies.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR TEUBES:   I  honest ly bel ieve that  he did not  have the 

same depth of  knowledge on those capabi l i t ies that  I  had.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR TEUBES:   So i t  is f rom that  percept ive I  d i ffered wi th 

him and i t  is known in my emai ls that  I  d i ffered wi th him.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   But  did you put  those arguments to 

him to say,  you say we have got  those capabi l i t ies wi thin  

Denel  but  you are mistaken on that  because of  a,  b,  c,  d we 

do not  have those capabi l i t ies.   Or those capabi l i t ies are just  

not  – the ones we have are not  adequate for th is purpose.   

Did you get  a chance – did you put  that  to him? 

MR TEUBES:   Chai r  I  bel ieve in the meet ings that  I  refer to 

in my emai ls I  d id .   In  ret rospect  I  should have probably put  

i t  in wr i t ing as wel l  which I  d id not .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  20 

MR TEUBES:   But  I  had jo int  meet ings wi th him and Ms 

Malahlela ja.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  Okay al r ight .   Mr Kennedy.  

MR TEUBES:   Thank you.   Chair  may I  then refer  – sorry 

may I  just  make sure of  how much t ime we st i l l  need to 
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. . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    How much t ime do you think you need? 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    I  hope about 20-minutes Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay let  us t ry. . . [ intervenes]   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    I  know you . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja,  let  us t ry and f in ish i t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    We can t ry and f in ish.   Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    May I  ask you please to  turn r ight  to  

the end of  the bundle,  page 862?  In fact ,  861.   This is part  10 

of  the supplementary statement that  you have prepared 

yesterday.   No,  sorry.   I t  is the f i rs t  supplementary aff idavi t .   

Do you have i t?  

MR TEUBES :    [No audible reply]   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Not  yet .   Sorry.  

MR TEUBES :    I  have i t .   Thank you,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    At  the foot  of  the page, 5.4.   MOU date 

versus the acquis i t ion date of  Denel  Vehicle Systems.  Why 

was DVS not  considered?  Now as I  understand the ear l ier 

part  of  your aff idavi t ,  th is is one of  the quest ions that  were 20 

put  to you by the invest igators of  the Commission for  you to  

answer.  

MR TEUBES :    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Is that  r ight? 

MR TEUBES :    Correct .   That  is correct ,  Chai r.    
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ADV KENNEDY SC :    And your explanat ion,  on the top of  the 

next  page:  

“According to my knowledge,  VR Laser and DVS 

Processors were two paral le l  processes.   DVS did 

not  have a hul l  manufactur ing capabi l i ty at  the t ime.   

I t  was suppl ied by Denel .    

And Pat r ia was hesi tant  to  support  DVS’s 

involvement at  the t ime due to the perceived 

compet i t ion on the RG-41 vehicle f rom DVS which 

lat ter issue was subsequent ly resolved.”  10 

 May I  just  focus for a moment on the DVS ent i ty? 

MR TEUBES :    H’m.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Because we have seen Mr Mlambo was 

not  saying necessar i ly that  DVS had capaci ty but  at  least  i f  i t  

d id not  have capaci ty,  i t  must  provide proof  that  i t  does not  

have capaci ty.  

MR TEUBES :    Correct ,  ja.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Was the Patr ia issue about  

conf ident ia l i ty or perceived compet i t ion rather in relat ion to  

i ts vehicle?  You say that  was resolved.   Was that  resolved 20 

before the award of  the contract  to VR Laser? 

MR TEUBES :    No.   No,  Chai r.   That  was resolved qui te later  

and the reasons why,  that  the st rategy has changed and 

including DVS to be the assemble house for the vehic les.   So 

we had to get  approval  f rom Patr ia in l ine wi th their  l icensing 
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agreement so that  DVS can be contracted for  the assemble.   

So the issue was not  resolved on the manufactur ing.   The 

issue was resolved on the assemble port ion of  the contract .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   Thank you.   And then I  would 

l ike to just  t ie up one last  loose end in re lat ion to th is  

contract .   Can I  now you ask please to turn near the f ront  of  

the bundle to page 35?   

CHAIRPERSON :    Is that  835? 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    35.  

MR TEUBES :    I  got  i t  Mr Chai r.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Now this was the passage I  was unable 

to put  my f inger on ear l ier,  the changing of  the angle.   We 

have seen that  the emai l  where you use that  terminology a 

l i t t le bi t  ear l ier.   Remember,  we looked at  that? 

MR TEUBES :    That  is correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    But  what i t  is used here is  to see 

reason why you changed the angle,  according to your 

aff idavi t .   Look at  page 35,  6.1.5.  

“ I  responded to the emai l . . . ”  

 That  is Ms Malahlela’s emai l .  20 

“ . . .on the 20t h of  March 2015, advising that  I  have 

changed the angle of  the draf t  solut ion and 

requested her input  on the same.   

In the revised draf t  submission,  I  added to the 

background and mot ivat ion and removed the supply 
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chain note’s heading that  had been included 

recommending that  the single source suppl ier be 

chosen through a compet i t ive bidd ing process and 

also recommended that  VR Laser be appointed as 

the said suppl ier. ”  

 Her evidence the other day suggested that  she was 

effect ive ly inst ructed.   You said that  you bel ieve that  she 

bought into the idea and was persuaded.  You stand by that 

evidence? 

MR TEUBES :    No.   No,  Chai r.   These are two di fferent  10 

subjects.    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    I  beg your pardon.  

MR TEUBES :    Ja.   So on this – the let ter that  we previously 

discussed was on the T5-programme about six months later 

than the MOA. 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    I  see.  

MR TEUBES :    Ja,  so th is MOA process here was that  the 

f i rst  draf t  and the second draf t  on the submission that  is 

discussed here.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Okay.   Thank you for c lar i fy ing that .   20 

Now may we turn now to a couple of  other aspects that  were 

ra ised in your  var ious aff idavi ts or  statements?  Turn now 

please to page 48.   You refer to in paragraph 8. . .  

MR TEUBES :    I  have got  i t .   Thank you Mr Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    You refer to negot iat ions wi th LMT for 
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rewarding the Hoefyster contract  to VR Laser.   Just  

summarise what th is was about.  

MR TEUBES :    Mr Chai r,  when we got  approval  to contract  

the whole contract  to VR Laser,  there was a condi t ion in the 

approval  to say,  is  i t  possible  to f ine an al ternat ive 

contract ing model  to inc lude LMT or  not?   

 So that  – through that  approval ,  he gave me the 

mandate to engage with Dr Nel  to see can we involve them in 

th is process or not .    

 And wi th that  process,  we – wel l ,  I  have developed the 10 

two opt ions,  Opt ion A and Opt ion B.   That  was discussed 

then wi th Dr Nel  a t  length.    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And then i f  you can turn please to 

page 46?  This deals wi th the appointment of  VR Laser by 

DLS in 2016.   Now we have already deal t  wi th the Hul l  

contract  that  was awarded in 2014.  The Single Source 

Suppl ier cont ract  that  was awarded in 2015.  Correct? 

MR TEUBES :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Am I  correct  in understanding,  you are 

deal ing here wi th a separate t ransact ion that  fo l lowed that? 20 

MR TEUBES :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And that  relates to di fferent  i tems than 

those covered by the f i rst  two cont racts.  

MR TEUBES :    That  is correct .   A lso for a di fferent  

programme. 
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ADV KENNEDY SC :    And for a d i fferent  programme.   Right .   

Not  for Hoefyster? 

MR TEUBES :    No,  i t  was for the Malaysian programme 

Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   Now I  appreciate that  you were 

deal ing wi th th is at  the request  of  the invest igators to deal  

wi th speci f ic issue.   But  can you just  sum up your points in  

re lat ion to th is part icular contract?  What sign i f icance is 

there that  you would l ike to draw to the at tent ion of  the 

Chair? 10 

MR TEUBES :    Chai r,  off  the cuff ,  there is nothing else that  I  

would l ike to add here.   My apologies.   No,  I  do not  th ink 

there is something that  I  would l ike to in addi t ion to these 

three points.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja,  okay.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    But  thank you Mr Teubes.   There is one 

aspect  that  I  would l ike to draw to your at tent ion just  to  

explain and that  is at  page 47,  paragraph 7.8.   Oh, sorry 7.7.    

“On 22 March 2016, Ms Malahlela had at  the Exco 

meet ing of  DLS raised the concern once more about 20 

the apparent  over- rel iance by DLS on a 

memorandum of  agreement i t  had concluded with VR 

Laser,  where this agreement was in  conf l ict  wi th the 

Supply Chain Pol icy of  Denel . ”  

 Do you recal l  her ra is ing those concerns in 2016? 
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MR TEUBES :    Mr Chai r,  yes.   And in th is case,  i t  was also 

minute on the Exco meet ing.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   Now – so this is  the – and when 

you refer here to  the apparent  over- rel iance,  according to  

Ms Malahlela,  by DLS on a memorandum of  agreement,  

would that  be the f i rst  agreement f rom 2014 for the hul ls,  the 

second agreement in 2015 of  the Single Source Suppl ier of  

addi t ional  i tems, or what? 

MR TEUBES :    Mr Chai r,  i t  is the second agreement.   The 

MOA agreement wi th VR Laser.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.   And so she was aler t ing you 

there to the fact  that  that  second agreement  was in her  view 

in conf l ict  wi th the Supply Chain Pol icy? 

MR TEUBES :    That  is correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Did you discuss i t  wi th her?  Did you 

indicate a contrary view to her or do you not  recal l?  

MR TEUBES :    Mr Chai r,  the only discussion was at  th is 

Exco meet ing.   And as I . . .   I  cannot remember the detai led 

discussions on the Exco meet ing but  I  have ref lected the 

comments that  was minute by Mr Burger in th is Exco 20 

meet ing.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   And then,  Mr Burger ’s 

comments – comment f rom him is  referred to  in your 

paragraph 7.8.   You say:  

“Mr Burger in his capaci ty as the CEO of  DLS 
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advised that  the memorandum of  agreement was to  

be signed by the Group Chief  Execut ive Off icer of  

Denel  Limited and should therefore supersede the 

Supply Chain Pol icy of  Denel  in instances where the 

two documents were in conf l ict . ”  

MR TEUBES :    That  is exact ly how i t  was minute in the Exco 

meet ing,  yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.    

CHAIRPERSON :    Did that  make sense to you?  Do you 

understand why that  should be the case?  Because when 10 

Ms Malahlela or whoever gave evidence about i t ,  i t  sounded 

st range to me . . . [ intervenes]   

MR TEUBES :    Ja.  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . . that  you can have an agreement – you 

can say an agreement that  is  in  conf l ict  or concluded in 

breach of  the company’s pol icy is  f ine because i t  is s igned 

by the Group CEO.  Because one would – one expects that  

agreements must  be in l ine wi th the pol icy.  

MR TEUBES :    Ja.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Did this point  make sense to you when 20 

you heard about i t  or when you heard Mr Burger said this? 

MR TEUBES :    Ja.   Mr Chai r,  I  was in that  Exco meet ing.    

CHAIRPERSON :    You were.   Ja.  

MR TEUBES :    Ja,  so I  was part  of  i t .   No,  I  have to say,  I  

cannot remember exact ly what my thoughts was on i t .   In  
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ret rospect ,  in reading i t  now, I  have got  the same concerns.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  yes.  

MR TEUBES :    But  I  cannot recal l  speci f ic thoughts on i t  

dur ing that  meet ing.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  yes.   Ja,  i t  is l ike.   Wel l ,  i f  i t  is 

s igned by somebody higher up,  even i f  i t  is against  the law, 

i t  is f ine.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.    

MR TEUBES :    Ja.  

CHAIRPERSON :    [ laughing]   Ja,  okay alr ight .    10 

MR TEUBES :    Noted Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    In fact ,  in that  vein,  may I  take you 

back to your comment that  you made earl ier?  That  wi th the 

benef i t  of  h indsight ,  you have real ised,  part icular ly in  

re lat ion to the media cont roversy and the publ ic interest  in 

the l ink between VR Laser and the Gupta fami ly and thei r  

networking including Mr Sal im Essa.  

 You real ised that  that  perhaps things could and should 

have been done di fferent ly.   Can I  just  put  a proposi t ion to 20 

you Mr Teubes for  your comment  i f  you wish to  make a 

comment? 

MR TEUBES :    H’m.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    I  want  to suggest  to you that  whi le I  

accept  fu l ly that  you are an engineer  by background and not  
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a lawyer,  does this not  i l lustrate that  one has to  ensure 

compl iance wi th procurement pol ic ies upf ront?   

 Because you do not  know when you are si t t ing in a 

posi t ion of  Mr Teubes or Ms Malahlela or whoever upfront ,  

exact ly who may or  may not  be behind part icular  tenderers 

and so forth.    

 And you learnt  the hard way later in an organisat ion l ike 

Denel  that  there are al l  sorts of  th ings that  are coming out  of 

the woodwork.    

 And that  is precisely why the process has to be fai r  and 10 

lawful  and compet i t ive f rom the beginning so that  the 

process does not  get  mi red in controversy later when i t  

emerges that  a single source suppl ier has been al located. . .  

 A contract  has been al located to a company that  through 

shareholders are now causing embarrassment to Denel  and 

where procurement pol ic ies have not  been fol lowed.  

MR TEUBES :    H’m.  Mr Chai r,  I  fu l ly agree wi th that .   I  th ink 

that  is the hard lesson learnt  out  of  th is process.   I  th ink we 

have a lso learnt  the lesson in th is process,  be more cr i t ical  

of  what is happening and not  just  accept .    20 

 And I  th ink when i f  you look at  one of  the Denel ’s values 

that  have changed now is i t  courage.   And the courage is to 

quest ion.    

 And I  th ink we went through a per iod where we probably 

did not  quest ion enough.  And I  th ink – I  fu l ly agree wi th the 
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statement,  yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And may I  ask,  to what extent  was your 

feel ing of  comfort  at  that  stage that  i t  has now changed to 

discomfort?  To what extent  were you inf luenced?   

 A l though you were senior wi thin DLS, to what extent  

were you inf luenced by the fact  that  Mr Burger was senior to  

you and was giving you a measure of  reassurance.    

 And so to,  you have ment ioned ear l ier to the Chai r,  i t  

was subject  to the Group CEO, Mr Saloojee g iving his 

approval  and that  was given.   Did that  g ive you comfort?  10 

MR TEUBES :    Mr Chai r,  at  that  stage my focus on the 

technical  performance and the technical  r isks and cr is is ’s we 

had on Hoefyster.    

 So maybe I  d id not  spent  enough in applying my mind 

around the – let  us cal l  i t  the pol i t ical  ownership 

environment.   

  So to answer the quest ion,  was I  comfortable or not?  I  

th ink as t ime progressed and with a l l  the media hype around 

the owners,  the level  of  un-comfort  rose.  

 But  I  cannot give you an exact  point  where I  said to a 20 

point  th is is unacceptable.   But  that  level  of  un-comfort  rose 

over t ime.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Thank you very much Mr Teubes.   We 

have no further quest ions as the legal  team for th is wi tness.   

Thank you,  Chai r.    
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CHAIRPERSON :    Thank you very much Mr Teubes for  

coming to assist  the Commission.   We appreciate i t  very 

much.  I f  we need you to come back,  we wi l l  ask you to come 

back.   But  for now, you are excused.   

MR TEUBES :    Thank you very much Mr Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Thank you.   Mr Kennedy.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Thank you,  Chai r.   Chai r,  we have no 

further wi tnesses arranged for today.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    We have been al located further  t ime,  10 

not  next  week but  the fo l lowing week,  start ing on the 

9 t h of  November . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    . . .where we have a number of  

wi tnesses l ined up.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Who wi l l  inc lude Mr Mantsha and as 

wel l  as Mr Ntshepe.  The legal  team wi l l  be consul t ing wi th  

him. 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    He was not  avai lable unt i l  now.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    We wi l l  be consul t ing wi th him this 

af ternoon.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  okay.  
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ADV KENNEDY SC :    So we would ask for the proceedings 

of  today to then be adjourned.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And for the Denel  st ream evidence 

then to be postponed to resume on the 9t h of  November.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   No,  no.   That  is  f ine.   We are going 

to adjourn or the day.   Next  week,  the Commission wi l l  hear 

evidence by Ms Kwinana who used to be a member of  the 

SAA Boards as wel l  as evidence f rom Ms Dudu Myeni  who 

was chairperson of  the SAA Board for a certain per iod.   So 10 

for today,  we are going to adjourn at  th is stage.   We adjourn.  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS TO 2 NOVEMBER 2020 


